

Endodontic Topics

Outcome of non-surgical retreatment

Journal:	<i>Endodontic Topics</i>
Manuscript ID:	ETP-12-10-RE-0049.R1
Manuscript Type:	Invited Review
Date Submitted by the Author:	n/a
Complete List of Authors:	Ng, Yuan-Ling; UCL Eastman Dental Institute, Endodontology Gulabivala, Kishor; UCL Eastman Dental Institute, Endodontology
Keywords:	root canal, Retreatment, clinical outcomes

SCHOLARONE™
Manuscripts

Only

1
2
3 **Outcome of non-surgical retreatment**
4
5
6
7

8 **Ng Y-L, Gulabivala K**
9

10
11 **Unit of Endodontology,**
12 **UCL Eastman Dental Institute,**
13 **University College London,**
14 **London, UK.**
15
16
17
18
19

20
21
22
23
24
25
26 Address for correspondence;
27

28 Dr. Y-L Ng,
29 Unit of Endodontology,
30 UCL Eastman Dental Institute,
31 University College London,
32 256 Gray's Inn Road,
33 London WC1X 8LD,
34 UK

35 Tel: 020-7915-1233
36 Fax: 020-7915-2371
37

38 e-mail: p.ng@eastman.ucl.ac.uk
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Abstract

The purpose of this review was to find and critically analyse the relevant literature to synthesise an overview on the clinical outcomes (radiographically judged periapical healing and tooth survival) following root canal retreatment and the factors influencing them. A further aim was to explain the findings as far as possible.

The relevant literature was found and critiqued using the principles of a systematic review. The data were classified into a coherent structure for analyses and presentation but are not presented as a systematic review; rather the authors have chosen a narrative style to enable integration of the clinical outcomes with relevant findings from laboratory and animal studies.

Overall, the outcomes were similar to those for teeth undergoing primary treatment with common factors influencing the outcomes. The major differences between the outcomes of primary and secondary root canal (re)treatment reside only in the ability to predictably access and negotiate the root canal system to the (residual) apical infection. The data offer very favourable prognosis for non-surgical root canal retreatment performed to guideline standards.

Deleted: s

Introduction

The Endodontic literature is replete with evidence of the earnest work of many investigators into the problem of management of root canal infection and periapical disease. There is however, no optimal, standardized, universally accepted protocol for root canal treatment. Clinicians are left to decide on their own particular approach through a combination of the wealth of published information, their training and subsequent experience. The call for standardization of root canal treatment procedures was first raised at the beginning of the last century (1, 2). Biological and clinical evidence, tempered by practice experience has been used to generate guidelines on the quality of root canal treatment by societies of Endodontology in UK (3), Europe (4, 5), and Canada (6). They have collectively highlighted the importance of a number of steps, including: 1) the use rubber dam tooth isolation to facilitate an aseptic technique; 2) the proximity of the canal preparation to the canal system terminus (5, 6); 3) the sufficiency of the taper given to the canal preparation; 4) the adequacy of irrigation of the canal system using a solution with disinfectant and tissue-dissolving properties; 5) the adequacy of the antiseptic dressing of the canal system between visits; 6) the adequacy of a biologically acceptable seal of the canal system when the infection is judged to have been controlled; 7) the extension of a homogenous canal filling to the terminus of the canal system without extrusion; and 8) the adequacy of the final restoration to prevent bacterial recontamination of the canal system or fracture of the tooth. All three societies recommend clinical and radiographic assessment of treatment outcome for quality assurance purposes. The above guidelines apply to root canal treatment regardless of whether it is primary or secondary (retreatment) in nature.

Over one hundred articles have been written on the clinical outcome of primary root canal treatment and retreatment since 1921 (7). However, substantially more studies on primary treatment (8) have been published than on retreatment (9).

Overview of methodological characteristics of published studies

The level of evidence for the outcome of root canal retreatment was found to be sub-optimal in a systematic review (10). There exist three low-level randomised controlled trials comparing the outcome of non-surgical versus surgical retreatment (11-13). *No randomized controlled trial has thus far investigated any aspect of retreatment procedures.*

The effect of pre-operative prognostic factors has been investigated using a prospective cohort study design by only a small proportion of previous studies (14-22); the majority of the rest have used a retrospective design. Given the difference in

1
2 the nature of infection between previously untreated and root-filled teeth (23), it is not
3 inconceivable that the outcome of primary treatment and retreatment and their
4 related prognostic factors may be different. It may therefore be argued that analysis
5 of the outcome data for the two types of treatment should be performed separately.
6 Unfortunately, most of the data on retreatment has in fact been presented and
7 analysed together with the data on primary treatment (14, 15, 17, 24–32) or surgical
8 retreatment (33). In most of these studies, retreatment represented a small
9 proportion of their total sample (14, 15, 17, 24, 28, 29, 34). Only a few studies (11,
10 16, 18–20, 35–37) have been specifically designed to investigate re-treatment. A
11 recent study (21, 22) compared the direction and magnitude of the effect of potential
12 prognostic factors on primary treatment and retreatment by including similar numbers
13 of cases from the two types of treatment.
14
15
16
17
18

19 **Outcome measures and criteria for successful treatment**

20 The outcome of root canal treatment has been assessed using different measures
21 depending on the perceived outcome of importance from the perspective of the
22 researcher, dentist or patient. Academic clinicians interested in identifying prognostic
23 factors, have tended to opt for a combination of radiographic and clinical signs of
24 resolution of periapical disease (38). The patient's perspective has been measured
25 by resolution of symptoms (39, 40), functionality of the tooth (41) and the quality of
26 life index (42). The health planning professional or dental insurance company may be
27 more interested in the survival of the root canal fillings or treatment (43–47) and tooth
28 retention or survival (22, 48, 49). More recently, the use of patient reported outcomes
29 has become a requirement for measuring the quality of care by the National Health
30 Care System in the UK (50) (Department of Health 2008 www.dh.gov.uk/publication)
31 and [by other bodies](#) in other countries but none of the published studies has yet
32 included this outcome measure.
33
34
35
36
37
38

39 The traditional two-dimensional radiographic image has been a well accepted
40 method for assessing periapical status of root treated teeth. However, the
41 development of digital imaging technology (51) brought the possibility of image
42 manipulation, including digital subtraction (52–55), densitometric analysis (56), and
43 correction of gray values (57) or brightness & contrast (58). The use and limitations
44 of the two-dimensional radiographic image for assessing treatment outcome has
45 been reviewed thoroughly before (59).
46
47
48

49 Recently, cone-beam computed tomography (CBCT), a new three-
50 dimensional imaging technique requiring only 8% of the effective dose of
51 conventional computed tomography (60), has been proposed as a means of
52
53
54

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

overcoming the problem of superimposition. It rapidly gained popularity amongst Endodontists (61–63), even before the data on sensitivity or specificity was available. It has been suggested that 34% of lesions associated with posterior teeth failing to be detected by conventional periapical radiography, could be detected by cone beam tomography (64). Recently, the diagnostic values of periapical radiography and cone beam tomography were compared on dogs' teeth using a histological gold standard to detect apical periodontitis 180 days after root canal treatment (65); the latter was found to be significantly more accurate. Curiously however, stratifying the analyses by the experimental groups only revealed a significant difference amongst teeth with apical periodontitis undergoing the two-visit treatment (66). The validity of clinical outcome studies using conventional radiographic technique has been questioned (67) and the routine use of CBCT has not been recommended by the Health Protection agency (68) owing to its higher radiation dosage ($\times 2-3$) (68, 69).

Deleted: Although t

Deleted: ,

Deleted: is

Many studies consider the threshold of treatment success to be passed only when both radiographic and clinical criteria are satisfied (41). A small proportion of cases present with persistent symptoms despite complete radiographic resolution of the periapical lesion (70). Comparison of success rates estimated with or without clinical examination revealed no (17) or only a very small difference (1%) (21). Interestingly, presentation of pain has only been used as an outcome measure in studies following-up cases for 1 month (71–74).

The definition for success/failure by Strindberg (1956) (75) embracing both radiographic and clinical findings have been widely adopted or adapted in many studies (14, 21, 24, 29, 31, 76) (Table 2). Friedman & Mor (2004) (41), sceptical about the terms "success/failure" because of their potential to confuse patients, instead adopted the labels, "healed", "healing" and "diseased". In table 2, the "healed" category corresponds to "success" as defined by Strindberg (1956) (75), whilst "healing" corresponds to "success" as defined by Bender *et al.* (1966a&b) (39, 40).

Criteria setting the threshold for success at complete resolution of the periapical radiolucency have been described as "strict" (8) or "stringent" (41). Whilst choosing a mere reduction in size of periapical radiolucency (39, 40) has been described as setting a "loose" (8) or "lenient" (41) threshold. The frequency of adoption of these two thresholds in previous studies has been similar; the expected success rates using "strict" criteria would be lower than those based on "loose" criteria. The literature finds the difference to vary from 4% to 48% (9, 38).

When using the periapical index (PAI), earlier studies (77, 78) only reported the increase or decrease in mean scores for the factors under investigation, with

1
2 reporting of the proportion of cases successful. In other studies, the PAI scores were
3 dichotomized into “healthy” (PAI 1 or 2) or “diseased” (PAI 3–5) categories (79, 80),
4 allowing the data to be compared directly with more traditionally used binary
5 outcomes of success or failure. In this system of designation, given that the
6 periodontal ligament space is slightly widened in score PAI 2, it effectively signals the
7 adoption of the “loose” threshold. The longitudinal analyses (81) of 14 cases
8 presenting with widened apical periodontal ligament space (PAI score at 2) after 10
9 years post-operatively, revealed unfavourable future healing in a proportion (28%,
10 4/14).
11
12
13
14

15 Recently, the outcome measure, “functional retention” has been introduced
16 (41) to aid comparison between the outcomes of endodontic treatment and tooth
17 extraction followed by implant replacement. A tooth was judged “functional” in the
18 absence of clinical signs and symptoms, regardless of the presence or absence of
19 periradicular radiolucency (18, 82). The prognostic factors influencing this outcome
20 measure have never been reported.
21
22

23 “Survival of teeth after root canal treatment” is a similar but more lenient
24 outcome measure than “functional retention”, as it ignores the clinical condition of
25 teeth at recall. The perceived “threat” to endodontic treatment from the competing
26 treatment option (extraction & implant supported prosthesis) has popularized the
27 study of “tooth survival” (21, 45, 48, 49, 83–93). Only the latter two studies (21, 93),
28 however, offered survival data specifically for root canal retreatment. Apart from tooth
29 extraction, other competing outcomes such as the tooth undergoing further non-
30 surgical or surgical treatment may also be considered failure events (45–47).
31
32
33

34 More rarely used dimensions of root canal treatment outcome are “quality of
35 life” and “patient satisfaction” (42). It has been found that the quality of life of patients
36 was found to improve significantly after endodontic treatment as a result of pain relief
37 and allowed return to normal sleep patterns. No published study has specifically used
38 this measure for assessing the outcome of root canal retreatment.
39
40
41

42 **Unit of outcome assessment**

43 Both tooth or root, independently or in combination have been used as the unit of
44 assessment (9). “Patient” has only been used as a unit for assessing “quality of life”
45 and “patient satisfaction” (42). Given that it is considered clinically appropriate to
46 either extract or repeat the root canal treatment of the entire tooth when disease
47 persists, it has often been considered more appropriate to use “tooth” as the unit of
48 measure. In reality, multi-rooted teeth may be selectively treated by root-end surgery,
49 root-resection or hemi-section to manage individual root(s) with persistent problems.
50
51
52
53
54

1
2 Conceptually, when determining the root-level prognostic factors for resolution of
3 apical periodontitis, use of “tooth” as the unit of assessment would confound the
4 analyses. On the other hand, using “root” as the unit of assessment would over-
5 estimate success when multi-rooted teeth are analysed (38). Two studies (17, 21)
6 providing simultaneous outcomes for both units of assessment did not support this
7 conceptual prediction (Table 1)
8
9

10 11 **Duration after treatment and recall rate**

12 The duration after which treatment is reviewed in studies is subject to considerable
13 variation, ranging from 6 months (15, 33) to 27 years (94). The European Society of
14 Endodontology’s Quality Guidelines (2006) (5), recommend clinical and radiographic
15 follow-up at least one year after treatment with subsequent annual recall for up to
16 four years before a case is judged to have failed. The American Association of
17 Endodontists concurs with a suggestion of clinical and radiographic evaluation for up
18 to five years. The origin of the “four year” standard is probably based on the work of
19 Strindberg (1956) (75) who reported that stabilisation of periapical healing was not
20 observed until 3 years after the treatment. Forty years later, Ørstavik (1996) (78)
21 reported the peak incidence of healing to be at 1 year whilst ten years earlier,
22 Byström *et al.* (1987) (95) reporting on healing dynamics had noted that completely
23 healed lesions decreased to about 2 mm within 2 years, regardless of their initial
24 size. Recently, a prospective study (21) reported that the majority (96%) of the
25 lesions associated with retreatment healed completely within 2 years post-
26 operatively. They also found that the duration after treatment (2–4 years) did not
27 have a significant influence on the proportion of teeth with complete periapical
28 healing. On the other hand, it has been reported that late periapical changes, with
29 more successful cases, were recorded when a 10-17-year follow-up after root canal
30 retreatment was extended for another ten years (94)
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38

39 The research problem is that the longer the duration of follow-up after
40 treatment, the lower the recall rate; the literature reveals this to range from 20% (26)
41 to 100% (11) for retreatment. It has been reported that patients who were female, in
42 the older age group, or had teeth with pulp necrosis or previous root fillings, were
43 more likely to attend follow-up appointments (96). Although there is no specific
44 threshold of loss to follow-up at which attrition-related bias becomes problematic
45 (97), the possibility of bias in a randomized controlled trial is a concern when the loss
46 is more than 20% (98). This is particularly so when there is a significant difference in
47 the drop-out rate between the two arms of a trial (97). There is however, no
48 equivalent threshold related to longitudinal observational studies.
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Statistical methods for investigation of prognostic factors

One of the most common design problems in medical research is that the sample size is too small with inadequate power to detect an important effect, if one exists (99). Unless the true treatment effect is large, small trials can yield a statistically significant result only by chance or if the observed difference in the sample is much larger than the real difference (100). Amongst the clinical outcome studies on retreatment, the use of power calculation for determination of sample size has only been reported occasionally (18, 20). The sizes of sample populations have varied substantially from 18 to 452 teeth amongst the studies included in a systematic review (9). At the time of writing this review, the largest clinical outcome study on retreatment using periapical healing as the outcome measure was based in an Endodontic specialist training centre in UK with a sample size of 750 teeth (21, 22). In contrast, a study (93) on tooth survival following retreatment performed by endodontists participating in an insurance service was able to include 4744 teeth with a 5-year follow-up.

When analysing the association between potential influencing factors and treatment outcome, the occurrence of confounding can produce spurious effects such as hiding, reducing the true effects of a genuine prognostic factor or magnifying the effect of a dubious factor (101). For confounding to occur, the variable of interest must be associated with the confounder which must in turn be associated with the outcome. However, most studies on retreatment outcome have not used a multi-variable regression model (101) to account for the effects of potential confounders but have instead used the uni-variable chi-squared test (9). In addition, the hierarchical structure of the Endodontic dataset is mostly ignored. By this is meant that the fact that multiple roots are nested within the same tooth, and multiple teeth are nested within the same patients, is ignored. The units within each cluster cannot be considered to be independent to each other and this must be accounted for in the analytical method. In addition, the prognostic factors for the outcome of root canal treatment may operate at individual root, tooth or subject levels. At these different levels, the relationship between a prognostic factor and treatment outcome might be attenuated by different confounder profiles. Thus, prognostic factors may play different roles in predicting outcome at these three levels (102). The hierarchical structure of the data may only be accounted for by a multi-level random effects modelling approach (102) or marginal effect models (17, 21, 22).

Outcome of root canal retreatment using radiographically judged periapical healing as a measure of success

1
2
3
4 A systematic review (9) of 17 studies published between 1961 and 2005 reported
5 that the pooled estimated success rates of root canal retreatment completed 2–4
6 years previously, ranged between 70% and 80% based on strict radiographic criteria
7 for success. Whereas, the estimated weighted pooled success rates of primary
8 treatments completed 2 to 4 years prior to review was reported by another systematic
9 review to range between 76% and 86% (8).

10
11
12 The above figures seem to support the commonly held belief (14, 15, 26, 28)
13 that primary treatment is associated with better outcome than retreatment, possibly
14 due to the difference in the nature (23) and location of root canal infection (103). A
15 meta-analysis (9) of seven studies reported that the relative proportion of roots/teeth
16 with retreatment *versus* primary treatment was low (range 4% to 51%). The statistical
17 comparison of this data (based on strict criteria) might therefore be under-powered in
18 the meta-analysis; showing that primary treatment was associated with higher odds
19 of success (OR = 1.3; 95% CI: 0.8, 2.1) but the difference was not significant (P =
20 0.4). Interestingly, a recent prospective study (21) revealed a similar odds ratio (OR =
21 1.3; 95% CI: 0.9, 1.8) when comparing the outcomes of the two types of treatment. A
22 further meta-analysis (9) performed on data from teeth with pre-operative periapical
23 lesions (14, 17, 24, 26), revealed the odds ratio to be slightly higher at 1.6 (95% CI:
24 0.8, 3.6) but the result was not statistically significant at the 5% level. It could be
25 concluded that the *small* differences in success rate between primary treatment and
26 retreatment are clinically genuine but that there was insufficient statistical power to
27 show a definitive difference.

28
29
30 Two randomized controlled trials (11, 12) compared the outcome of surgical
31 *versus* non-surgical retreatment and were included in a Cochrane review (104). Both
32 reported that surgical retreatment was associated with higher success rates than root
33 canal retreatment, *one-year* after treatment, although the differences were not
34 significant *in the study by Danin *et al.* (1996) (11)*. At *four-years* after treatment, Kvist
35 & Reit (1999) (12) failed to show any difference. They hypothesized that surgical
36 retreatment resulted in more rapid initial bone-fill but were associated with a higher
37 risk of "late failures". In agreement with Del Fabbro *et al.* (2007) (104), a more recent
38 systematic review and meta-analyses stratified their analyses by the duration of
39 follow-up and also concluded that there was no significant difference in the outcomes
40 of non-surgical retreatment and Endodontic surgery (105).

41 42 43 44 45 46 47 48 49 50 51 **Overview of prognostic factors for resolution of periapical disease by** 52 **root canal retreatment**

Formatted: Font: Italic

1
2 The prognostic factors for resolution of periapical disease following root canal
3 retreatment may be classified into pre-, intra- and post-operative factors; the strength
4 of evidence for potential prognostic factors was found to be weak in a recent
5 systematic review (9). However, a recent prospective study in London (UK) has
6 found that the effects of all significant influencing factors, except “type of irrigant”,
7 were found to be the same for both primary treatment and retreatment (21). The
8 evidence for each of the potential influencing factor is presented sequentially below.
9
10
11
12

13 **Pre-operative factors**

14 Gender

15
16 None of the previous studies reporting on the influence of gender on retreatment
17 have found any significant association between gender and success rate (14, 18, 20,
18 21, 31, 37, 106).
19
20
21
22

23 Age

24 The effect of the patient’s age on retreatment outcome has been analysed by
25 evaluating age as a continuous variable (17, 21) or categorised by decade (32, 37);
26 or by division into two groups (18, 20). Age was not found to have a significant
27 influence on retreatment outcome in all but one study (32). Imura *et al.* (2007) (32)
28 reported that age had a significant effect on the outcome of retreatment; the age
29 group 50–59 was associated with a higher success rate compared with all other age
30 bands pooled into one category. In their final multiple regression model, only one age
31 band was analysed, the selection of which was data-driven and without any clinical
32 justification. In fact, their summary data revealed no obvious, linear or non-linear
33 trends in the success rates by different age bands.
34
35
36
37

38 Dichotomizing or categorizing continuous predictors is considered
39 unnecessary and is unsupported on statistical grounds (107). The disadvantages
40 include loss of information (such as detection of non-linear relationships with
41 outcome), loss of statistical power, and increased probability of false positive results.
42 The choice of thresholds should have a clinical basis or be consistent with previously
43 recognized cut-off-points (107). In the absence of an *a priori* cut-off-point, the most
44 common and acceptable approach is to take the sample median (107). The arbitrary
45 selection of cut-off-points may lead to the notion of testing more than one value and
46 choosing that which, in some sense, gives the most satisfactory pre-conceived result;
47 it is worse still if the cut-off-points are selected using a data-dependent method (107).
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2 The last strategy appeared to be adopted by Imura *et al.* (2007) (32) rendering the
3 outcome unreliable.
4

5 General medical health

6 The effect of general health on retreatment outcome has been poorly investigated.
7 One study (108) only included healthy patients. Without stratifying the analyses for
8 primary treatment and retreatment, another study (109) reported that conditions
9 associated with impaired non-specific immune response significantly reduced the
10 success rates of root canal treatment on teeth associated with periapical lesions.
11 However, a recent prospective study (21) failed to reveal any specific medical
12 conditions or therapies to have a significant influence on periapical healing following
13 retreatment. The conditions investigated included: diabetes; history of allergic
14 reaction; systemic steroid therapy, long-term antibiotics, thyroxin therapy, hormone
15 replacement therapy; and coronary heart disease. The analyses were however,
16 compromised by the small proportion of patients included with systemic diseases.
17 The authors reported the subjective observation that the rate and pattern of
18 periapical healing were similar amongst teeth within the same patient but could vary
19 substantially between patients. This was though statistically supported by the
20 significant clustering effect of multiple teeth within the same patients in their study
21 (21).
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29

30 Tooth type

31 There is a widespread perception amongst dentists that the simpler anatomy of
32 single-rooted teeth makes their management more amenable and their outcomes
33 better and more predictable (110). However, previous studies (14, 18, 20, 21, 26, 28,
34 31–33, 35, 36) did not find any significant influence of this factor on retreatment
35 outcome. Interestingly, Allen *et al.* (1989) (33) reported that maxillary teeth were
36 associated with a significantly higher success rate compared to mandibular teeth.
37 This difference was, however not significant when only molar teeth were included in
38 the analysis. The importance of controlling the pre-operative status of teeth was
39 demonstrated by Ng *et al.* (In press a) (21). In their uni-variable analyses, tooth/root
40 type were found to have a significant association with success rate but this effect
41 reduced once the analyses were adjusted for presence and size of pre-operative
42 periapical lesion in a multiple regression model. The findings appear to infer that the
43 complex canal anatomy associated with molar teeth does not negatively influence the
44 outcome of root canal retreatment. Perhaps more important is the issue of apical
45 anatomy (111) and its infection (103, 112) which may vary less between tooth types.
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Periapical status

The findings on the effect of periapical status on retreatment outcome have been relatively consistent. Teeth with a periapical lesion are associated with significantly lower success rates of retreatment than those without a lesion (11, 14–21, 24, 26, 29, 31, 34, 35, 36, 108,113). Using single variable analysis, a recent meta-analysis (9) and a prospective study (21) have reported a 6–7 fold difference in the odds of success between treatments on teeth with or without a periapical lesion. However, the magnitude of effect was found to be reduced to 2 fold after adjusting the result for other significant prognostic factors (21).

The strategy for handling the data on periapical lesion size may influence the observed effect of periapical lesion size on treatment outcome. Periapical lesion size has been analysed either as a continuous variable (17, 21, 29), or categorized into bands (14, 15, 26, 108). Despite the recording of lesion size by predetermined size bands, the analysis is sometimes further dichotomized for convenience. The thresholds for dichotomization have varied between 2 mm (15) and 5 mm (14, 26, 108) but none of the studies had justified their selection strategy.

Periapical lesion size has been found to have a significant influence on outcome of retreatment (16, 21, 35–37); with higher success rates for smaller lesions. Analysis of the size of lesion as continuous data showed a reduction in the odds of success by 14% for every 1 mm increase in the diameter of the lesion (21). In contrast, some studies (11, 14, 108) have not found a statistically significant difference. The discrepancy in findings could be attributed to lack of statistical power, differences in criteria for success, duration of follow-up, and the nature of dichotomization of the size of lesion for analysis. The sample sizes in two of the studies (11, 108) were insufficient to detect a true effect. The intuitive impression that larger lesions may require longer to heal completely, tends to be corroborated by Sjögren *et al.* (1990) (14) using strict criteria for outcome as well as an extended follow-up period, which found no difference in success rates. The negative influence of large lesion size has a ready and acceptable biological explanation; in that the diversity of bacteria (by number of species and their relative richness) is greater in teeth with larger periapical lesions (114). The infection was more likely to persist in those canals with a higher number of bacteria pre-operatively (115). Larger lesions may represent longer-standing root canal infections that may have penetrated deeper into dentinal tubules and accessory anatomy in the complex canal system (116) where mechanical and chemical decontamination procedures may not readily reach.

Larger lesions may also represent cystic transformation, potentially rendering non-

Deleted: or extra-radicular infection

1
2 surgical root canal treatment ineffective (117). Finally, the host response may also
3 play a part, as patients with larger lesions may innately respond less favourably to
4 residual bacteria (103). This speculation may crystallise into distinct questions for
5 further biological research into the nature of interaction between host, bacterial
6 infection and treatment intervention.
7
8

9
10 Other pre-operative clinical signs and symptoms

11 Most of the other investigated pre-operative factors (pain, tooth tenderness to
12 percussion, soft tissue tenderness to palpation, soft tissue swelling, soft tissue sinus,
13 periodontal probing defect of endodontic origin, root resorption) are in fact different
14 clinical manifestations of periapical disease (21). They may therefore act as
15 surrogate measures or complement “presence and size of periapical lesion” in
16 measuring the effect of severity of periapical disease within a broad continuous
17 spectrum. Of these, only presence of pre-operative pain (15), sinus tract (21) and
18 apical resorption (75) were found to be significant prognostic factors that significantly
19 reduced the success of retreatments. In contrast, Chugal *et al.* (2001) (29) reported
20 that “presence of sinus” did not add any prognostic value to that provided by
21 “presence and size of lesion”. The discrepant finding may be attributed to the much
22 smaller sample size (200 teeth, 441 roots) in their study when compared to the data
23 in Ng *et al.* (In press a) (21). Similarly, the “Toronto study” (20, 82) using multiple
24 logistic regression analyses to account for confounding, and limiting their analyses to
25 teeth with apical periodontitis, found that the presence of “pre-operative clinical signs
26 and symptoms” did not influence retreatment outcome. Unfortunately, the factor
27 “clinical signs and symptoms” investigated in the “Toronto study” was not clearly
28 defined and the associated sample sizes were also small.
29
30
31
32
33
34
35

36 Interestingly, Ng *et al.* (In press a) (21) reported that although pre-operative
37 swelling was excluded during the building of their final logistic regression model, this
38 factor was found to have prognostic value even when its effect was adjusted for
39 “presence and size of periapical lesion”. It may therefore be reasonable to speculate
40 that its presence does indeed have a significant “clinical” prognostic value.
41
42
43

44 The biological explanation for the negative impact of sinus tract and periapical
45 swelling on periapical healing is interesting to speculate on as both represent
46 suppuration, either in the acute or chronic form. The finding is not readily explained
47 by the type and quantity of the implicated intra-radicular bacteria, which are
48 predominantly Gram-negative and fastidious species (*P. endodontalis*, *L. buccalis*, *P.*
49 *gingivalis*, *F. nucleatum*) (114, 118–121). These species have not been reported to
50 be resistant to root canal decontamination procedures unless of course they are
51
52
53
54

1
2
3 beyond the reach of the procedure. Other species associated with refractory cases
4 presenting with persistent sinus tracts include *Actinomyces* (122) and other
5 unidentified coccal- and fungi-form micro-organisms (123), which are implicated in
6 extra-radicular infections. A sinus tract may facilitate an alternative nutrient or
7 bacterial supply to maintain both an extra-radicular periapical infection as well as a
8 residual infection in the apical root anatomy, possibly explaining its negative
9 influence on the success of treatment, independent of the presence and size of
10 periapical lesion.
11

12
13 A conceivable scenario is that suppurative conditions represent proliferation
14 of the apical microbiota into the periapical tissues where they may encounter one of
15 three responses. A compromised immune response may be unable to mount an
16 effective defence response and allow direct penetration and invasion by bacteria into
17 the host (124). A normal immune response consisting of an abundance of PMN
18 infiltration may result in rapid suppuration and a temporary overwhelming of the *local*
19 defences resulting in a swelling (125). A combination of virulent organisms and
20 weakened immune response may lead to a spreading infection, first locally and then
21 through cellulitis to further reaches. This overwhelming of the host defences may also
22 signal the potential for future treatment failure. A third response may consist of an
23 exaggerated host reaction due to immune hypersensitivity, a condition in which there
24 is potential for perpetuation of the host-bacterial interaction and therefore delayed
25 healing or treatment failure (126, 127).
26
27

28 Time interval between primary treatment and retreatment

29
30 A persistent radiographic periapical radiolucency without any other clinical signs and
31 symptoms after primary treatment may represent a healing lesion and cannot
32 automatically be regarded as treatment failure without reference to the duration
33 following treatment. The persistence of apical bacterial biofilms even after
34 contemporary intra-canal debridement measures (103) suggests that periapical
35 healing involves an on-going interaction between the host and the microbial flora; the
36 outcome of healing being determined by either the perpetuation or resolution of this
37 interaction. Clinically, it may be hypothesised that the case for failure supposedly
38 increases with the persistence of such an interaction after a follow-up duration of 3 or
39 more years (75). Thus it may seem reasonable to speculate that the longer the
40 interval between primary treatment and retreatment with persistence of the lesion,
41 the greater the risk of failure. However, three studies (18, 20, 33) investigating the
42 effect of this interval on outcome, all concurred that it had no significant effect. Three
43 other studies also provided insight into this problem by virtue of the fact that they
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54

Formatted: Font: Italic

Deleted: a

1
2 limited inclusion of teeth to those that had received primary treatment at least 2 years
3 (35, 36, 108) or 4-5 years (16) previously. Their reported success rates (75%, 62%,
4 (35, 36, 108) or 4-5 years (16) previously. Their reported success rates (75%, 62%,
5 74%, respectively) revealed no obvious trends, providing no direct support for the
6 above speculation. The inference may be that time alone is not the key element in
7 the outcome but the nature of the interaction between the bacteria and the host. This
8 in turn leads to the natural inference that knowledge of the nature of the apical
9 microbiota, the nature of the host response, and the interaction between them may
10 be the keys to future treatment strategies.
11

12 Pre-operative canal contents

13
14 The success rates of retreatment related to the prior presence of different foreign
15 materials in the root canal system is only reported in two studies (21, 33). One study
16 (33) included surgical retreatment cases (54% of the samples) and found that the
17 presence of pre-operative “cement” root filling material was associated with
18 significantly lower success rates than the presence of “gutta-percha” or “silver point”
19 root filling material. Not unsurprisingly, teeth with separated instruments, pre-
20 operatively, were associated with lower success rates than those with “gutta-percha”
21 root fillings (21). However, Gorni & Gagliani (2004) (19) reported that the success
22 rate of treatment on teeth with pre-operative separated instruments was 96%, which
23 is *on par* with the reported pooled success rate (94%) of retreatment on teeth without
24 apical periodontitis (9). Clinically, the factors, “type of foreign material”, “presence of
25 fractured instrument”, “fate of foreign material” and lastly, “ability to achieve patency
26 at the canal terminus” are all in the same statistical confounding pathway (21). The
27 study concluded that as long as patency could be achieved at the canal terminus,
28 success of retreatment would not be affected by the type of foreign material whether
29 it was removed or bypassed. In this study (21), only half of the fractured instruments
30 were successfully removed or bypassed, explaining their association with lower
31 success rates. Their finding was consistent with the 49–53% of fractured instrument
32 removal rate by postgraduate students in Athens, Greece (128) or dentists in Wuhan,
33 China (129). Higher rates of instrument removal (87%) (130) and success rates
34 (91%) (19) have been reported by experienced specialists.
35

36 Pre-operative procedural error in canal preparation

37
38 Pre-operative procedural errors may impede or complicate retreatment. The errors
39 investigated have included: obstruction, canal morphology alteration (transportation,
40 straightening, stripping), iatrogenic root perforation, or internal resorption (19). The
41 last condition was, obviously unrelated to the previous treatment. They found that
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Formatted: Font: Italic

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

success of retreatment was compromised if the root canal morphology was altered unfavourably by the primary treatment (19).

The evidence on the effect of pre-existing perforations is contradictory and may possibly be related to the material used for repair. The occurrence of root perforations was found to compromise the outcome of retreatment significantly by both the Toronto (18, 20) and London Eastman (21) studies, consistent with Gorni & Gagliani (2004) (19). However, on the positive side, Main *et al.* (2004) (131) reported that periradicular radiolucencies associated with pre-existing perforations repaired with mineral trioxide aggregate cement resolved completely in all cases. This finding was in agreement with the latest report from the "Toronto study" (20) comparing perforation repair with MTA® or glass ionomer cement. Unfortunately, the above studies did not analyse further the specific prognostic factors for teeth with perforations. A narrative review (132) concluded that the time lapsed before defect repair, location and size of perforation, and adequacy of perforation seal were reported to be important factors, based on *in vitro* findings, animal studies and one case-series.

Quality of pre-existing root fillings

Persisting apical disease associated with teeth containing radiographically adequate root fillings may be caused by intra-radicular infection, extra-radicular infection, a true cyst, or a foreign body reaction (117). Of these, only the first would respond to non-surgical root canal retreatment (117). Studies (11, 18, 20, 21) comparing the success rates of retreatment on teeth with satisfactory *versus* unsatisfactory pre-existing root fillings have returned conflicting reports. Danin *et al.* (1996) (11) found no significant influence due to the apical extent of pre-existing root fillings but only had a sample size of 18 teeth. This finding was in contrast to the Toronto study (18, 20) where the success rate for teeth with pre-existing root filling with satisfactory length and density was significantly lower (19%–22%). The discrepancy may be attributed to the fact that the latter study used tooth as a unit of outcome assessment, and only included teeth with periapical lesions in the analysis. Two explanations were advanced for the observation by the authors of the Toronto study (18, 20): 1) in teeth with adequate pre-operative root filling, the persisting infection may have been less susceptible to routine retreatment procedures; and 2) the persistent lesion may have been caused by extra-radicular infection, a true cyst or foreign body reaction unresponsive to retreatment. Although Ng *et al.* (In press a) (21) also found that the success rates for roots with satisfactory pre-existing root fillings (absence of voids and extended to within 2 mm of the radiographic apex) were 6% lower than for those with

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

unsatisfactory pre-existing root fillings, the difference was not significant even after adjusting for the presence of a periapical lesion.

Ng *et al.* (In press a) (21) further found that under-extended pre-existing root fillings in teeth with compromised outcomes may be caused by either natural or iatrogenic blockages that could not be negotiated to the apical terminus during retreatment. This was supported by the fact that short root fillings (>2 mm short of canal terminus) after retreatment were 5% more frequently present in roots with unsatisfactory pre-operative root fillings than in roots with satisfactory pre-operative root fillings.

Intra-operative factors

Qualification of operators

Published studies on retreatment outcome have involved operators of different qualification and skill mixes, although the most frequently involved group was undergraduate students (14, 16, 24, 34–36, 113) followed by specialists (11, 15, 17, 26, 28) and then postgraduate students (18–21, 29). The operators in another two studies (33, 37) were a mixed group of dentists (undergraduate & postgraduate students, specialists) and a single dentist, respectively. The outcome of root canal retreatment as influenced by educational and experience background of the operators (specialist *versus* postgraduate students; first *versus* second year postgraduate students) was compared by Ng *et al.* (In press a) (21). They found staff (faculty) members achieved the highest success rates, followed by 2nd year and then 1st year postgraduate students, although the differences were not statistically significant. They reported no obvious influence attributable to differences in morphological tooth type or pre-operative periapical status of the teeth managed by various operator groups. These observations concur with the important influence of the clinical background of operators on the technical outcome of endodontic procedures, demonstrated in laboratory studies (133, 134). Clearly technical skills play an important role but there is a lack of appropriate tools or methodology to objectively quantify operator skills, which include a complex constellation of cognitive, technical and clinical skills. The role of technical refinement must surely be balanced against the overall understanding of the biological problem, and crucially the motivation and integrity with which the procedure is performed.

Deleted: and

Use of rubber dam isolation during treatment

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

The use of rubber dam in modern root canal treatment is so widely accepted that the absence of systematic data on its influence on root canal treatment outcome comes as a considerable surprise. One study on retreatment (37) had analysed the influence of rubber dam compared to cotton roll isolation and found significantly higher success rates with the former approach. Perhaps as a consequence, the principal justification for rubber dam use is based on medico-legal implications of root canal instrument inhalation by the patient (5).

Use of magnification and illumination

The value of magnification and illumination during root canal treatment has been repeatedly reinforced by endodontists (135) but a recent systematic review failed to draw any objective conclusions on their influence as no article was identified in the current literature that satisfied their inclusion criteria (136). A recent prospective study (21) investigated this factor but found only an insignificant influence on the final outcome. Use of a microscope may assist location of the second mesio-buccal canal in maxillary molars (64%), but this only made a small difference to the success rates associated with mesio-buccal roots when a periapical lesion was present (21). The true benefit of a microscope can only be verified through a randomised controlled trial but nevertheless, the suggestion is quite strong that a microscope is unlikely to make a significant impact on the critical step of apical infection control; since it is not viewable.

Type of instruments for canal preparation

The root canal system may be mechanically prepared to a requisite size and taper (137) using a variety of instruments of different cutting designs, tips, tapers, and materials of construction. Their efficacy is often tested in laboratory studies and the instruments and their utility may have well characterised properties (138). Investigation of the influence of type of instrument used for canal enlargement has been undertaken only in one non-randomised prospective study but the outcome is likely to be confounded by many factors including the protocol adopted for teaching technical skills (21). In this study, the better success rates for hand or rotary NiTi instruments compared with stainless steel instruments (21) were attributable to the fact that tactile skills training was achieved through a preliminary focus on the use of stainless steel files to develop tactile sensitivity and consistency. Only on demonstration of this competency did the trainees progress to NiTi instruments. More importantly, such senior students may also have had a better understanding of the biological rationale for root canal treatment. The ability to gain and maintain apical patency as well as to avoid procedural errors was better instilled in the senior

1
2 students, whilst in selected cases, NiTi instruments appear capable of achieving the
3 same in primary root canal treatment undertaken by undergraduates (139).
4

5 6 Apical extent of instrumentation 7

8 A key tenet of the European Society of Endodontology (2006) guidelines (5) is that
9 root canal debridement must be extended to the terminus of the canal system; which
10 is expressed variously as extension to the “apical constriction”, or to “0.5 to 2 mm
11 from the radiographic apex”, or to the “cemento-dentinal junction”. This guideline is
12 broadly supported by the fact that outcome of retreatment is compromised by canal
13 obstruction or failure to achieve patency to the canal terminus (21, 75, 113). After
14 adjusting the results for periapical status and other significant prognostic factors, Ng
15 *et al.* (In press a) (21) reported a 2-fold reduction in the success of retreatment when
16 the patency to the canal terminus was not achieved. Statistically framed another way,
17 there was a 12% reduction in the odds of success with every millimetre of the canal
18 system from the terminus that remained “un-instrumented” (21). This finding was
19 consistent with that of Chugal *et al.* (2003) (140) who investigated the outcome of
20 primary root canal treatment. In contrast, Sjögren *et al.* (1990) (14) and Gorni &
21 Gagliani (2004) (19) reported that the level of instrumentation had no significant
22 influence on the outcome of retreatment on teeth with apical periodontitis. Curiously,
23 Sjögren *et al.* (1990) (14) reported contradictory findings on primary treatment *versus*
24 retreatment that may simply be related to the insufficient sample size in the latter
25 group. It could be speculated that the lack of mechanical negotiability of canals may
26 be due to the presence of obstructions caused by “denticles”, tertiary dentine, acute
27 branching or a fine plexus of apical canals, dentine/organic debris, separated
28 instruments or root canal filling material. None of the previous studies distinguished
29 between the various causes of such obstruction. The first four examples of
30 mechanical obstruction may still allow irrigants to penetrate apically beyond them
31 during treatment.
32

33
34 During instrumentation, extension of the instruments beyond the canal
35 terminus has been described as “apical disturbance”. Bergenholtz *et al.* (1979a) (35)
36 found that the majority of failures occurring among ‘cleaned roots’ (with apical
37 disturbance) were complicated by overfilling during retreatment. Juxtaposed against
38 this is the observation that the use of “patency filing” to maintain the opening of the
39 canal terminus (a form of apical disturbance, albeit controlled), resulted in an 80%
40 success rate for root canal retreatment based on strict criteria (21).
41

42 43 Apical size of canal preparation 44 45 46 47 48 49 50

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49

The continued debate on the optimal size of apical preparation remains topical in the absence of definitive evidence: the findings from relevant *in vitro* and clinical studies have been reviewed before (141). So far, four clinical outcome studies have considered the issue or have systematically investigated the effect of apical size of canal preparation (17, 21, 75, 142) on retreatment outcome. Unfortunately, the former three studies (17, 75, 142) did not stratify their analyses by primary treatment and retreatment; furthermore, their data contained only a small proportion of retreatment cases (30%, 9%, 16%, respectively). Although none of the four studies had designed their investigation with apical canal size as their principal focus and neither had they found a statistically significant influence from this factor, all four studies reported the same inverse trend of decreasing success rates with an increase in the size of apical preparation. Ng *et al.* ([In press a](#)) (21) reported that their investigation of the influence of apical size of preparation was confounded by their clinical protocol that all canals should be prepared to a minimum ISO size 30, except for cases with very acute or double curvatures. Their adopted protocol further precluded unnecessary over-enlargement of the canal apically beyond ISO size 30. Investigation of the influence of apical size of preparation was therefore further confounded by the initial apical size of the canal before preparation; no further enlargement was recommended for those canals having an initial apical size 30 or larger. It was speculated that canal preparation to larger apical sizes may compromise treatment success by generation of more apical dentine debris, which in the absence of an adequate irrigation regimen serves to block apical canal exits that may still be contaminated with bacteria. Continued generation of dentine debris, in the absence of sufficient irrigation, leads to what is termed “dentine mud” which ultimately creates a blockage. The impatient or neophyte endodontist fails to resist the temptation to force the instrument back to length resulting in the classically described procedural errors of apical transportation, canal straightening and perforation. An alternative mechanism is required to explain the higher failures in initially large canals; it is likely that immature roots present a different debridement challenge, where the canal shape is not amenable to planing of the main portions of the canal by conventional instruments. Perhaps an intracanal brush may be a more suitable cleaning device in such teeth. The findings from the above studies therefore do not concur with views that more effective bacterial debridement may be achieved with larger apical preparations (143–145).

Deleted: 21,

50 Taper of canal preparation

1
2 The issue of apical preparation size should be considered together with that of the
3 size and taper of the rest of the canal preparation. Again, there is a paucity of
4 sufficient direct evidence for the influence of degree of canal taper on root canal
5 treatment outcome. The ESE guidelines (5) recommend only that canal preparation
6 should be tapered from crown to apex without stipulating any particular degree of
7 taper. Three studies have analysed the influence of canal preparation taper on
8 primary treatment and retreatment outcome, although again, none had focussed their
9 investigation on this factor (17, 21, 146) and only Ng *et al.* ([In press a](#)) (21) had
10 stratified their analyses for primary treatment and retreatment. Smith *et al.* (1993)
11 (146) using loose criteria for determination of success, found that a “flared”
12 preparation (wide taper) resulted in a significantly higher success rate compared with
13 a “conical” preparation (narrow taper); the exact degree of taper was not reported
14 and the effects of confounders were not controlled. In contrast, Hoskinson *et al.*
15 (2002) (17) and Ng *et al.* ([In press a](#)) (21) using strict criteria, did not find any
16 significant difference in treatment outcome between narrow (.05) and wide (.10)
17 canal tapers. The controlled use of stainless steel instruments in a step-back
18 technique may create .05 (1 mm step back) or .10 (0.5 mm step back) tapers,
19 although, of course, uncontrolled use of such instruments may generate a variety of
20 shapes. Ng *et al.* ([In press a](#)) (21) also compared these (.05 & .10) preparation
21 tapers with .02, .04, .06, and .08, tapers (generally achieved by using greater taper
22 nickel-titanium instruments) and found no significant effect on treatment outcome.
23 They cautioned that their investigation of the influence of canal preparation taper
24 without randomisation could be confounded by the initial size of canal, type of
25 instrument used and operator experience.

26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Triangulation of the data on the effects of canal preparation size and taper on re-treatment outcome, may intuitively lead to the conclusion that as far as current best evidence indicates, it is not necessary to over-enlarge the canal to achieve periapical healing. An apical preparation size of ISO 30 with a .05 taper for stainless steel instrumentation or .06 taper for NiTi instrumentation is sufficient. Precisely what biological and hydrodynamic mechanisms underpin such sufficiency is more difficult to define. Although a number of laboratory studies (147–149) have investigated the interaction between canal dimensions and irrigation or obturation dynamics, the precise physical, chemical or biological mechanisms that ultimately enable periapical healing remain unknown, although collaborations with fluid dynamics specialists (149) and (micro)biologists (23) may ultimately yield a clearer picture.

Technical errors during canal preparation

1
2 Procedural errors during root canal preparation include canal blockage, ledge
3 formation, apical zipping and transportation, straightening of canal curvature, tooth or
4 root perforation at the pulp chamber or radicular level, and separation of instruments.
5 Of these, the effects of changes in canal shape (ledge formation, apical zipping and
6 transportation) have not been specifically investigated and reported, whilst the effect
7 of canal blockage was explored in the previous section (*Apical extent of canal
8 preparation*). This section discusses the effect of iatrogenic perforation and
9 instrument separation.
10
11

12
13 Root canal retreatments with iatrogenic perforations may result in significantly
14 lower success rates (21, 32). However, one study (32) had pooled their data on
15 iatrogenic perforations, instrument separation and inter-appointment flare-up for
16 analysis, confusing the cause of the reduced success rate. The factors affecting the
17 outcome of management of perforations were discussed previously (*Pre-operative
18 procedural error in canal preparation*).
19
20
21

22 Instrument separation during retreatment has been found to reduce the
23 success rate significantly (21, 32, 75), however, the reported prevalence of
24 instrument separation was very low (0.5 – 0.9%) in these studies precluding an
25 analysis of causative factors (21, 32). A case-control study (31) compared teeth with
26 retained separated instruments after primary treatment or retreatment performed by
27 endodontists with those without such retained separated instrument as controls;
28 amongst the teeth with periapical lesions, the success rate of teeth with retained
29 instruments was 6% lower than the controls but in statistical terms not significantly.
30 The stage of canal debridement at which instrument separation occurred and the
31 justification for their retention may have implications on the outcome but these issues
32 were not discussed in their paper. The corono-apical location of a separated
33 instrument and whether the instrument was successfully bypassed were found to
34 have no effect on treatment outcome. The number of cases with instruments at the
35 various corono-apical levels in the canal was small and unevenly distributed;
36 therefore the statistical power may have been insufficient. In their report, retained
37 instruments were most prevalent in the apical third (77%). This was consistent with
38 the findings from another study, that overall, separated NiTi-instrument removal-rate
39 was 53%; the favourable factors for removal were straight root canals, anterior teeth,
40 location coronal to the canal curvature, fragments longer than 5 mm and hand NiTi K-
41 files (129). Unfortunately, these findings were not correlated with periapical healing.
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49

Irrigant

50 Different chemical agents have been used as irrigants for root canal treatment, singly
51 or in various combinations, both in clinical practice and in the studies reviewed. They
52
53
54

1
2 have included solutions of: water, saline, local anaesthetic, sodium hypochlorite,
3 iodine, chloramine, sulphuric acid, EDTA, hydrogen peroxide, organic acid, Savlon[®],
4 urea peroxide and a quaternary ammonium compound (Biosept[®]) (9). Most of the
5 studies had used sodium hypochlorite as an irrigant (9, 150) regardless of whether it
6 was primary treatment or retreatment. This is consistent with the ESE guidelines (5)
7 for irrigation which recommends a solution possessing disinfectant and tissue-
8 dissolving properties.
9

10
11
12 A recent prospective study (21) systematically investigated the effect of the
13 irrigant on the success rates of root canal retreatment, which although not a
14 randomized controlled trial, revealed interesting new findings on the effects of
15 irrigants. Whilst a higher concentration of sodium hypochlorite made negligible
16 difference to treatment outcome, the additional use of other specific irrigants had a
17 significant influence on success rates (21). The finding of a lack of improvement in
18 periapical healing with the use of a higher concentration NaOCl solution is consistent
19 with previous clinical/microbiological findings (151, 152). Comparing 0.5% to 5.0%
20 NaOCl solution for irrigation, it was found that concentration of solution, *per se*, did
21 not appear to increase the proportion of teeth, either rendered culture-negative (151)
22 or associated with periapical healing (152). As iodine and sodium hypochlorite are
23 both halogen-releasing agents and attack common key protein groups (153), the
24 finding that the additional use of 10% povidone-iodine for irrigation had no additional
25 influence on treatment success was as expected. Surprisingly, however, the
26 additional use of 0.2% chlorhexidine solution for irrigation was found to *reduce* the
27 success of treatment significantly (21). This finding was in complete contrast to
28 previous reports (154, 155) on its equivalent or superior *in vivo* antibacterial efficacy
29 when compared with sodium hypochlorite solution. The use of chlorhexidine as a
30 final irrigant following sodium hypochlorite irrigation had been recommended some
31 years ago (156) and was justified on several grounds, including its substantivity in
32 root dentine (157), relative lack of toxicity (158) and broad-spectrum efficacy (153).
33 Not until recently, has alternate irrigation with sodium hypochlorite and chlorhexidine
34 solution raised serious concerns because of their interaction product. The interaction
35 product is an insoluble precipitate containing para-chloro-aniline, which is cytotoxic
36 and carcinogenic (159, 160). Apart from mutually depleting the active moiety in the
37 two solutions for bacterial inactivation, the precipitate may cause persistent irritation
38 to the periapical tissue, and block dentinal tubules and accessory anatomy, possibly
39 explaining the observed lower success rate when chlorhexidine was used as an
40 additional irrigant.
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Ng *et al.* (In press a) (21) also found that the additional use of EDTA had a profound effect on improving radiographically observed periapical healing associated with root canal retreatment (OR = 2.3 [1.4, 3.8]). The observed synergistic effect of sodium hypochlorite and EDTA had been previously demonstrated in terms of bacterial load reduction (161) but not periapical healing. The long term (≥ 2 years) outcome of their cases stratified by canal disinfection protocols (Byström's PhD thesis 1986) (162) did not support their microbiological findings. Their reported success rate for alternate irrigation with sodium hypochlorite and EDTA solutions (67%) was low when compared to the success rate for irrigation using saline (91%), 0.5% sodium hypochlorite (92%) or 5% sodium hypochlorite (86%) solutions (162). The reported outcome data were unexpected as pre-obturation negative bacterial culture was achieved in all cases. Given the complexity of their study design (clinical and microbiologic), their sample size was restricted to 11–15 teeth per group limiting their outcome data. The synergistic effect of the two disinfectants has been attributed to the chelating properties of the sodium salts of EDTA and their roles have been reviewed by Zehnder (2006) (163). EDTA solution assists negotiation of narrow or sclerosed canals by demineralisation of root dentine and helps removal of compacted debris from non-instrumented canal anatomy. It may also facilitate deeper penetration of sodium hypochlorite solution into dentine by opening dentinal tubules and removing the smear layer from the instrumented surface, and lastly may help detach or breakup biofilms adhering to root canal walls (150). In retreatment cases, the previously instrumented canals may contain *contaminated* debris, smear layer, un-negotiable calcifications or iatrogenic blockages, and lastly contaminated filling materials. The additional use of EDTA irrigation may help by aiding removal of such contaminated materials, and opening up accessory anatomy and blocked canal exits.

Medicament

Most previous retreatment outcome studies have not standardised the type of root canal medicament used in the inter-appointment period, but the use of a number of medicaments has been reported. The list was consistent with that recommended in the ESE guidelines for a medicament with disinfectant properties and included: calcium hydroxide, creosote, and iodine solutions (9). However, there is an absence of studies investigating the influence of this factor on retreatment outcome.

Recently, the use of a mixture of calcium hydroxide and chlorhexidine has been tested based on the speculation that the mixture would be more effective against *E. faecalis* (164–166). The rate of complete healing after retreatment using

1
2 this medicament was 64% (167) which is much lower than the previously reported
3 pooled success rate of 77% (9).
4

5 Root canal bacterial culture results prior to obturation

6
7 In the distant past, in various centres of endodontic excellence, completion of root
8 canal treatment by obturation would only be triggered by a negative culture test result
9 confirming absence of bacteria in the sample-able part of the root canal system
10 (168–170). This practice has, unfortunately, fallen out of clinical favour because of
11 the perceived predictability and good prognosis of root canal treatment without
12 microbiological sampling. Sampling procedures are considered lengthy, difficult,
13 inaccurate, requiring laboratory support and having low benefit/cost ratio (171, 172).
14

15
16 At the time of writing, data on the effect of culture results on retreatment were
17 only available from two studies (16, 113). Results of meta-analyses of their data
18 showed that canals with negative culture results prior to obturation were associated
19 with 57% higher success rates than those with positive culture results (odds ratio =
20 4.3–4.8) but the difference was not statistically significant regardless of whether the
21 analyses were restricted to the data on teeth with pre-operative periapical lesion or
22 not (9).
23

24 Root filling material and technique

25
26 The inter-relationship between the core root filling material, sealer (for filling the gaps
27 between the core material and canal surface) and technique for their placement,
28 complicates the investigation of the effect of root filling material and technique on
29 treatment outcome. In previous studies on retreatment outcome, the most commonly
30 used core root filling material was gutta-percha with various types of sealer or gutta-
31 percha softened in chloroform (chloropercha) (9). The sealers used may be classified
32 into zinc oxide eugenol-based, glass ionomer-based and resin-based types (9).
33

34
35 Two studies investigating the effects of root filling material and placement
36 techniques on retreatment outcome, found no significant influence attributable to
37 these factors (15, 75). The effect of sealer on the outcome of retreatment has not
38 been specifically investigated (9).
39

40
41 Cold lateral compaction, as one of the most established and widely accepted
42 technique for placement of gutta-percha root filling material is normally used as the
43 control group for comparison with other techniques. Van Nieuwenhuysen *et al.*
44 (1994) (37) found that the use of a single-cone technique was associated with a
45 lower success rate, whilst the use of warm vertical compaction achieved similar
46 healing rates for retreatment in the “Toronto study” (18, 20) as well as in the “London
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2 Eastman study” (21). In the context of retreatment, there is a lack of firm evidence to
3 support the view that the putatively improved filling of the irregular canal space using
4 thermoplasticised gutta-percha placement would have a substantially beneficial
5 influence on treatment outcome.
6
7

8 Apical extent of root filling 9

10 Of the many intra-operative factors, this has been the most frequently and thoroughly
11 investigated, presumably because it offers a readily measurable outcome,
12 retrospectively. In these previous studies, the apical extent of root fillings has been
13 classified into three categories for statistical analyses: more than 2 mm short of
14 radiographic apex (short), 0–2 mm within the radiographic apex (flush) and extended
15 beyond the radiographic apex (long) (9). The rationale for this stratification has not
16 been specifically justified in previous studies but it is possible to offer a rational
17 explanation based on average length measurements of root-end anatomy. Some
18 studies have defined acceptable apical extension of root filling material as that
19 ending within 1 mm of the radiographic apex (flush) (142). Friedman’s group
20 dichotomized apical extension into adequate (flush) and inadequate (short or long)
21 categories (15, 18, 20). The adoption of radiographic root apex as the reference for
22 measuring the apical extent of root fillings has been criticized because of the poor
23 correlation between the location of this point and the terminus of the canal (173). The
24 London Eastman study (21), instead used the location of canal terminus determined
25 by electronic apex locators (EALs) as the reference point (EAL ‘zero’ reading).
26
27

28 Without stratifying the analysis by the presence of periapical lesion, the apical
29 extent of root filling was found to have a significant influence on the success rates of
30 retreatment in a recent systematic review (9) and prospective study (21). Flush root
31 fillings were associated with the highest success rates (15, 18, 20, 21, 75), whilst long
32 root fillings (24, 35, 36, 113) were associated with the lowest success rates.
33 However, no significant difference in success rates of retreatments was found
34 between teeth with short or long root fillings, regardless of whether the results were
35 adjusted for the presence of pre-operative periapical lesion (21).
36
37

38 Curiously, whilst Sjögren *et al.* (1990) (14) found the extent of root filling to
39 have a significant influence on outcome of primary treatment on teeth with periapical
40 lesions, they did not find such a relationship for retreatment. The reported lack of
41 statistical significance may have been due to insufficient sample size (204 roots
42 undergoing primary treatment; 94 roots undergoing retreatment). The authors
43 stressed that all cases with short root fillings and pre-operative periapical lesions
44 were classified amongst those that could not be instrumented to their full length. It
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54

1
2 was also noted that the retreatment cases with flush root fillings (67%) were
3 associated with a much lower success rate than their primary treatment (94%)
4 counterparts. It could be speculated that the canal termini in retreatment cases may
5 have been blocked by dentine and pulpal debris during the primary treatment.
6 Perhaps, given this complication, a direct comparison between flush root fillings in
7 primary treatment and retreatment cases may require different evaluation measures,
8 possibly involving the use of electronic apex locators, although the different
9 behaviour of EALs under these circumstances should be borne in mind (174).

10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Conflicting findings were reported on the effect of apical extent of root fillings from the different phases of the “Toronto study” on outcomes of retreatment on teeth with periapical lesions. When the apical extent of root fillings were categorized into short, flush and long, they were found to have no significant effect on treatment outcome (18). A significant association was, however found after combining long and short root-fillings into one category under the label of “inadequate” root filling (18). The odds ratio for adequate root fillings (OR = 6.8; 95% CI: 1.2, 38.6) based on the data from phases 1&2 of their study (18) had a very wide confidence interval, indicating imprecision in the estimation. In contrast, when data from phases 1–2 (18) and phases 3–4 (20) of the Toronto study were pooled for analyses, this relationship was no longer statistically significant. This illustrates the potential for spurious results obtained from analyses using relatively small sample sizes. The use of “tooth” as unit of assessment may also render analyses of this root-level variable problematic.

The previous, mostly retrospective studies did not and could not distinguish between the effects of apical extent of instrumentation *versus* the apical extent of obturation. The London Eastman study (21) was able to separate the effect of these two factors and found them both to independently and significantly affect periapical healing. The factors did though correlate with each other, consistent with the fact that canals are normally filled to the same extent as canal preparation. A single measure “apical extent of root filling” could therefore inform about both the apical extent of canal cleaning, as well as obturation, except when there is overextension of instruments or extrusion of cleaning agents during canal preparation without root filling extrusion or root filling material extrusion during obturation without apical disturbance during preparation.

Extrusion of cleaning, medication or filling materials beyond the apical terminus into the surrounding tissues may result in delayed healing or even treatment failure due to a foreign body reaction (175–178). Magnesium and silicon from the talc-contaminated extruded gutta-percha were found to induce a foreign body reaction, resulting in treatment failure (176). An animal study has shown that large

1
2 pieces of subcutaneously implanted gutta-percha in guinea pigs were well
3 encapsulated in collagenous capsules, but fine particles of gutta-percha induced an
4 intense, localised tissue response (178). The inference that perhaps extrusion of
5 large pieces of gutta-percha may not impact on periapical healing was not supported
6 by data from previous studies (21, 24, 35, 36, 113). The discrepancy may possibly be
7 accounted for by bacterial contamination of the extruded gutta-percha in the clinical
8 data.
9
10
11

12 Radiographic evidence of “sealer puffs” extruding through the main apical
13 foramina and lateral/accessory canals has been pursued with vigour in the strong
14 and undaunted belief of its value as “good practice” by some endodontists. Their
15 perception is that this sign is a surrogate measure of root canal system cleanliness
16 (179) and ardently argue that healing would follow, albeit with some delay. The
17 published evidence on the effects of sealer extrusion into the periapical tissues has
18 been contradictory. Friedman *et al.* (1995) (15) who did not stratify their analyses for
19 primary treatment and retreatment, found that extrusion of a glass ionomer-based
20 sealer significantly reduced success rates. In contrast, Ng *et al.* (In press a) (21)
21 reported that extrusion of a zinc oxide eugenol based-sealer had no significant effect
22 on periapical healing. The discrepancy may be attributed to the difference in sealer
23 type and the duration of treatment follow-up: 6–18 months by Friedman *et al.* (1995)
24 (15) compared with 24–48 months by Ng *et al.* (In press a) (21). The radiographic
25 assessment of the presence or resorption of sealer may be complicated by the
26 radiolucent property of its basic components and the insufficient sensitivity of the
27 radiographic method to detect small traces of it (21). It is possible that in some cases,
28 the radiographic disappearance of extruded sealer may simply be due to resorption
29 of the radio-opaque additive, barium sulphate or its uptake by macrophages, still
30 resident in the vicinity (176).
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38

39 A mixed sample of primary treatment and retreatment cases showed that
40 extruded glass ionomer-based (15), zinc oxide eugenol-based (180), silicone-based
41 (180) sealers or Endomethasone® (181) were not found to be resorbed/absorbed by
42 periapical tissues after one year. Traces of calcium hydroxide-based sealer
43 (Sealapex®) could still be detected after three years (182). In the latter study,
44 treatments were carried out on primary molar teeth and the canals were obturated
45 with Sealapex® without gutta-percha. With longer duration of follow-up, complete
46 resorption of extruded zinc-oxide eugenol-based sealers (Procosol®, Roth Elite®)
47 (183) and a resin-based sealer (AH Plus, Dentsply/DeTrey, Konstanz, Germany)
48 (184) was demonstrated in 69% and 45%, of the cases after 4 and 5 years,
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2 respectively. Extruded zinc oxide eugenol-based sealer was radiographically
3 detectable in 65% of retreatment cases after 2–4 years (21).
4

5 Ng *et al.* (In press a) (21) advanced two explanations for the difference
6 between the effect of extruded core gutta-percha and zinc oxide/eugenol sealer: the
7 latter is antibacterial and may kill residual microorganisms, whilst it is also more
8 soluble and readily removed by host cells compared to gutta-percha.
9

10 Quality of root filling

11
12 Another much investigated parameter of obturation in retrospective studies has been
13 the radiographic measure of “quality of root filling”. The rationale for complete
14 obturation of the root canal system is to prevent re-contamination by colonization
15 from the residual infection or newly invading bacteria. Both are putatively prevented
16 by a “tight” seal with the canal wall and an absence of voids within the body of the
17 material. Quality of root filling may therefore be regarded either as poor root filling
18 technique or as a surrogate measure of the quality of the entire root canal treatment,
19 since good obturation is reliant upon properly executed preliminary steps in canal
20 preparation. A recent systematic review (9) reported that the criteria for judging the
21 quality of root fillings have not been well defined in previous studies (14, 17, 18, 37).
22 An unsatisfactory root filling has been defined as “inadequate seal”, “poor apical seal”
23 or “radiographic presence of voids”; whilst Van Nieuwenhuysen *et al.* (1994) (37) also
24 considered the apical extent of the root filling. This subjective assessment has not
25 been standardized or calibrated, nor tested for variability in assessment by inter- and
26 intra-observer agreement. Nevertheless, satisfactory root fillings were found to be
27 associated with significantly higher success rates than unsatisfactory root fillings for
28 retreatment (14, 18, 37). A recent prospective study with only a small proportion
29 (0.5%) of cases with voids within the apical 5 mm of the root fillings, reported that the
30 influence of this factor on retreatment outcome could not be analysed (21).
31

32 Acute exacerbation during treatment

33
34 The aetiological factors for inter-appointment “flare-up” or pain have not been
35 precisely determined and several hypothetical mechanisms involving chemical,
36 mechanical or microbial injury to the periradicular tissues, as well as psychological
37 influences have been suggested as contributory to post-preparation pain (126, 127).
38 Although this factor has not been specifically studied in the context of periapical
39 healing, acute “flare-ups” during primary root canal treatment or retreatment (data not
40 stratified) were not found to be significantly associated with periapical healing in two
41 studies (14, 142). In contrast, the London Eastman study (21) found that pain or
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2 swelling occurred in 18% of retreatment cases after chemo-mechanical debridement,
3 and was found to significantly reduce success as measured by periapical healing.
4 This interesting finding may be explained by the hypothesis that “flare-ups” were
5 caused by extrusion of contaminated material during canal preparation. Such
6 material may elicit a foreign body reaction or (transient) extra-radicular infection,
7 resulting in treatment failure in a proportion of such cases. Alternatively, acute
8 symptoms may be the result of incomplete chemo-mechanical debridement at the
9 first appointment leading to a shift in canal microbial ecology favouring the growth of
10 more virulent micro-organisms and thence leading to post-preparation pain and
11 treatment failure. The exact biological mechanisms of failure in these cases remain
12 obscure and warrant further investigation.
13
14
15
16
17

18 Number of treatment visits

19
20 The effect of number of treatment visits on periapical healing remains an on-going
21 controversy, fuelled by debate between specialists and dentists arguing for single
22 visit treatment on the basis of cost-effectiveness and business sense against
23 academics and some specialists arguing for multiple visit treatments, based on
24 biological rationale (185). The main thread of argument for multiple visit treatments
25 has been that primary debridement is not completely effective in eliminating all the
26 adherent bacterial biofilm (103) and the residual bacteria may multiply and recolonise
27 the canal system (161, 162). It is therefore considered desirable to use the inter-
28 appointment period to dress the canal with a long-lasting or slow-release antibacterial
29 agent capable of destroying or incapacitating residual bacteria, as well as to take the
30 opportunity to gauge the initial periapical response before root filling. Calcium
31 hydroxide has served in this capacity for many years because of its ability to dissolve
32 organic tissue, kill bacteria, detoxify antigenic material and act as a slow release
33 agent because of its low solubility-product in an aqueous environment. However, its
34 antibacterial ability has come under close scrutiny recently, with advocates
35 suggesting that the material is not suitable for purpose (186). A final resolution to this
36 debate is awaited based on robust clinical evidence.
37
38
39
40
41
42
43

44 A recent systematic review on outcome of root canal retreatment reported that most
45 previous studies on periapical healing outcome have performed all treatment over
46 multiple visits (9). Only three studies compared the success rates of single- and
47 multiple-visit retreatments (18, 20, 37). Van Nieuwenhuysen *et al.* (1994) (37) found
48 that the outcome of retreatment was significantly improved by multiple visits and
49 better still if the canal preparation and disinfection were completed in the first visit.
50 The data analyses from Phases 1 & 2 and Phases 3 & 4 of the “Toronto study” (18,
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

1
2 20) gave contradictory outcomes. The former (18) did not reveal any significant
3 difference but the latter (20) found single-visit treatments to be associated with
4 significantly higher “healed” rates.
5

6
7 The debate about the merits of single or multiple visit treatments will continue
8 unabated given the respective strengths of the motivational drivers amongst the
9 opposing groups. The issue may only be resolved by properly documented, large
10 randomised controlled trials (which are currently unavailable) because unrecorded
11 confounders (operator skill, biological or technical case complexity and patient
12 compliance) underlying the factor “number of treatment visits” would continue to play
13 out their biasing effect in non-randomised studies.
14
15
16

17 18 19 **Post-operative (root canal treatment) factors**

20 Quality and type of coronal restoration after root canal treatment

21
22 The placement of a coronal restoration after root filling is the final step in the
23 management of teeth undergoing root canal retreatment. Its importance was
24 supported by the results of a systematic review and meta-analysis (9) which pooled
25 data from 2 studies (17, 18). Teeth with satisfactory coronal restorations were found
26 to have significantly better periapical healing compared with those with unsatisfactory
27 restorations (OR = 3.31; 95% CI: 1.07, 10.30) (9). The term “satisfactory restorations”
28 has only been defined in one study (17): a restoration with no evidence of marginal
29 discrepancy, discolouration or recurrent caries with absence of a history of
30 decementation.
31
32
33

34
35 Given that one of the roles of coronal restorations is to prevent post-operative
36 root canal re-infection, the criteria for unsatisfactory restoration given in Hoskinson *et*
37 *al.* (2002) (17) could not infer coronal leakage when the inner core was still intact.
38 Consequently, the London Eastman study (21) adopted a different classification and
39 definition for unsatisfactory restorations in order to depict obvious and potential
40 coronal leakage more effectively. The two groups of unsatisfactory restorations were
41 defined as those with: 1) obvious signs of exposed root filling; and 2) potential
42 leakage indicated by marginal defects and history of de-cementation. It is perhaps
43 this strategy that contributed to the finding of an extremely profound effect (OR =
44 10.7; 95% CI: 3.7, 31.5) of this factor on the outcome.
45
46
47
48

49
50 A number of investigations have been performed based on comparisons
51 between the types of post-root canal treatment restorations, including: permanent
52 versus temporary restorations (15, 18, 20, 21, 33); crown versus plastic restorations
53
54
55

Deleted: an

Deleted: i

1
2 (14, 15, 20, 21); presence versus absence of posts (15); and non-abutment versus
3 abutment (14, 21). Teeth that had been permanently restored were associated with
4 significantly higher success rates than their temporarily restored counterparts in
5 some studies (15, 18, 33) but not in others (21, 187). The *type* of permanent
6 restoration (14, 15, 20, 21) was found to have no significant influence on the outcome
7 of retreatment. Two studies (21, 187) reported that the type of restoration (temporary
8 *versus* permanent) had no significant influence on periapical healing after adjusting
9 the results for pre-operative periapical status. This observation may be attributed to
10 the underlying reasons for delaying the placement of permanent restorations by
11 dentist or patient. The reasons include the fact that: 1) these teeth may be associated
12 with persistent signs or symptoms of persistent apical periodontitis following
13 treatment; or 2) some referring dentists may defer placement of final restoration on
14 teeth with pre-operative periapical lesion until there is radiographic evidence of
15 periapical healing.

16
17 It has often been recommended that it would be wise to provide a sub-seal
18 over the root filling in case of loss of a permanent or temporary restoration; the sub-
19 seal would be glass ionomer (GIC) or zinc oxide eugenol cement (188–191). The
20 placement of a GIC or zinc oxide eugenol (IRM[®]) cement lining coronal to the gutta-
21 percha filling and underneath the permanent core in order to provide additional
22 antibacterial coronal seal, was found to have no beneficial effect on treatment
23 success in a prospective study (21).

24
25 In summary, the above findings overall support the ESE guidelines (5) that an
26 adequate restoration *should be placed* after root canal treatment to prevent
27 subsequent bacterial recontamination. Therefore the provision of a good quality
28 coronal restoration, regardless of type, should be considered the final part of the root
29 canal treatment procedure following obturation.

30 Use of root treated teeth as abutments for prostheses and occlusal contacts

31
32 Mechanical stress on teeth is a function of their role in restorations as well as the
33 pattern of occlusal loading both in static and dynamic occlusion, i.e., whether teeth
34 are involved as single units or bridge/denture abutments and whether they have
35 holding or guiding contacts. It is reasonable to expect that bridge and denture
36 abutments may be placed under unfavourable loads, as may last-standing teeth in
37 the dental arch (192, 193). Such teeth may therefore be expected to have lower
38 success rates through development of cracks and fractures due to fatigue. Although
39 this observation has been confirmed for teeth functioning as bridge abutments

1
2 compared with those restored as individual units following primary root canal
3 treatment (14), such a relationship has not been specifically investigated in
4 retreatment cases.
5
6

9 **Outcome of root canal retreatment using tooth survival as the measure 10 of success**

11
12 A systematic review of 14 studies published between 1993 and 2007, on tooth
13 survival following non-surgical root canal treatment (194), identified only two studies
14 (45, 86) that had included some cases undergoing retreatment, the other 12 studies
15 had only investigated primary root canal treatment. A further two studies (22, 93)
16 specifically evaluating tooth survival following retreatment have been published since
17 the systematic review. The former (93) included a large cohort of teeth (n=4744) on
18 which the retreatments were performed by endodontists participating in the Delta
19 Dental Insurance plan, a scheme that insures approximately 15 million individuals in
20 the USA. The latter study (22) had included a smaller cohort (n=858 teeth) in whom
21 the retreatments were provided by endodontic postgraduate students (UCL Eastman
22 Dental Institute, London, UK). Their data were prospectively collected to evaluate the
23 outcome of root canal treatment. The two studies reported that 89% (93) and 95%
24 (22) of teeth had survived 5 or 4 years following retreatment, respectively. Most of the
25 lost teeth had been extracted within 2–3 years following retreatment (22, 93). These
26 figures are similar to the pooled two to ten year survival rates for primary treatment
27 (87%–97%) (194). A prospective study (22) found no significant difference in the 4
28 year survival rates between teeth undergoing primary treatment (95.3%) or
29 retreatment (95.4%). The two types of treatments also shared the same set of
30 prognostic factors for tooth survival (22). The most common reasons for tooth
31 extraction following retreatment were: persistent clinical signs and symptoms (39%);
32 tooth or root fracture (29%); and failure of coronal restoration (22%) (22).
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41

42 **Overview of prognostic factors for tooth survival following root canal re- 43 treatment**

44
45 A search of the literature identified only one study to have systematically investigated
46 the prognostic factors for tooth survival after root canal retreatment (22). The problem
47 even in this sole study was that the investigation was compromised by the low event
48 rate (small proportion of teeth extracted during the study period); nevertheless some
49 investigations were possible and are reported below.
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

Patient factors

Ng *et al.* (In press b) (22) found that teeth in patients suffering from diabetes or receiving systemic steroid therapy had a higher chance of being extracted after retreatment. The negative influence of diabetes on tooth survival is consistent with the report by Mindiola *et al.* (2006) (195), whilst the influence of steroid therapy had never been reported previously. It may be argued that patients suffering from diabetes were more susceptible to periodontal disease (196) or had a lower success rate of root canal treatment (30), which in turn could be the reason for tooth extraction. They however reported that over 50% of such teeth were extracted due to persistent pain. Some of these observations may be explained by the presence of neuropathy, a debilitating painful complication of diabetes (197). It was further, interesting to note that systemic steroid therapy is often prescribed to control such chronic pain (198–200).

Tooth morphological type and location

Tooth types may vary in susceptibility to tooth fracture, a common reason for tooth loss after treatment. Ng *et al.* (22) however, found that tooth *type* had no significant influence on survival. Maxillary premolars and mandibular molars were found to have the highest frequency of extraction, with tooth fracture being the most common reason. The observation is consistent with previous reports on fracture incidence of maxillary premolars and mandibular molars (201, 202). The factors, “proximal contacts” and “terminal (last standing) teeth” were found to affect tooth survival significantly by Ng *et al.* (22), but were significantly correlated to “molar teeth”. Most of the extractions of terminal teeth or teeth with one or less proximal contact were due to tooth fracture. The observation may be explained by the unfavourable distribution of occlusal force and higher non-axial stress on terminal teeth and those with less than 2 proximal contacts. Other possible reasons explaining their higher rate of loss are that: 1) failure of root canal treatment on a terminal tooth may be accepted more willingly because of little perceived aesthetic value; 2) clinicians may be less likely to offer further treatment on terminal molar teeth due to difficult access. It therefore seems important to ensure favourable distribution of occlusal forces when designing restorations for molar teeth, teeth with one or less adjacent teeth, and terminal teeth following retreatment.

Pre-operative conditions of teeth

The presence of pre-operative periapical lesions, which is the most significant prognostic factor for periapical healing, was found to have no significant influence on tooth survival (22). On the other hand, pre-operative periodontal probing defects of

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

endodontic origin, pre-operative pain and pre-operative sinus tracts, were found to reduce tooth survival (22). These observations are consistent with a previous report that the mere presence of a periapical lesion was not a sufficient reason for dentists and patients to opt for active treatment (203). The negative impact of pre-operative pain on survival outcome, highlights the importance of accurate pain diagnosis. In some instances, the pain may be of non-endodontic origin, and therefore persist after re-treatment (70). In other instances, pre-operative pain of endodontic origin may persist following treatment, as a result of peripheral or central sensitisation. Therefore effective pain diagnosis and management for patients presenting with pre-operative pain are crucial.

Deleted: s

The presence of pre-operative cervical resorption and perforation were also found to significantly reduce tooth survival (22). This was as expected because tooth fracture and re-infection due to leakage are likely sequelae in such cases. In the presence of re-infection, clinicians are more inclined to suggest extraction due to the intuitive perception of poor long-term prognosis of such teeth.

Intra-operative factors

Amongst all the intra-operative factors, "lack of patency at apical foramen" and "extrusion of gutta-percha root filling" were found to reduce tooth survival (22). They found that extraction of teeth with these conditions was more likely to be due to persistent endodontic problems as both of them were also prognostic factors for treatment success based on periapical healing. In the presence of persistent problems and knowing that the treatment objective of cleaning to the canal terminus could not be achieved, patients and dentists may be more likely to opt for extraction sooner than later.

Post-operative restorative factors

Protection of teeth with crowns or cast restorations had not been found to influence treatment success based on periapical healing although placement of good cores had. In contrast, placement of crowns or cast restorations was found to improve tooth survival (22). This suggests that crowns and cast restorations help prevent tooth fracture whilst the mere placement of a satisfactory core would be sufficient to prevent re-infection after treatment. Unfortunately, they were not able to investigate the inter-relationship between tooth morphological type, the extent of tooth tissue loss after treatment and the type of final restoration. Although the direct and injudicious clinical inference from their result is that cast restorations should preferably be placed on all teeth after root canal treatment, this is probably a gross exaggeration of the true need. Fabrication of a full coverage cast restoration requires

1
2 further removal of tooth tissue from an already weakened tooth. On the basis of
3 laboratory (89, 204) and clinical findings (22), posterior teeth with compromised
4 marginal ridges (mesial or distal), together with evidence of heavy occlusal loading
5 evidenced by faceting, may benefit from cast cuspal coverage restorations. The
6 restoration design should attempt to preserve as much remaining tooth tissue as
7 possible; the implication is that the so-called non-aesthetic but technically demanding
8 partial veneer onlays and partial coverage crowns would be the restorations of choice
9 for root treated teeth. In anterior teeth, the missing tooth tissue may often be
10 replaced with plastic adhesive restorative material. A crown is only indicated when
11 intra-radicular retention becomes necessary.
12

13
14
15
16 The use of cast post & cores for retention of restorations was also found to
17 reduce tooth survival (22). It may be speculated that the presence of posts has
18 different effects on anterior and posterior teeth as they are subjected to different
19 directions and amount of occlusal force. It was reported that only 12% of the
20 extracted teeth with cast post & cores were incisors or canines. Therefore, the
21 inference is that the use of such retention should be particularly avoided in premolar
22 and molar teeth. Alternative treatment options should therefore be considered for
23 molar or premolar teeth lacking sufficient tooth structure.
24

25
26
27 Ng *et al.* (In press b) (22) observed that teeth functioning as prosthesis
28 abutments had poorer survival but the number of teeth (n = 94) functioning as
29 abutments was too small in their sample to demonstrate a statistically significant
30 effect. As before, the explanation may reside in the excessive and unfavourable
31 distribution of occlusal stresses on abutment teeth. If possible, root-treated teeth
32 should be avoided as abutments for prostheses or in provision of occlusal guidance
33 in excursive movements.
34
35
36

37 38 **Concluding remarks** 39

40
41 This paper presented a critical appraisal and synthesis of the available literature
42 reporting on the clinical outcome of root canal retreatment and their prognostic
43 factors for periapical healing and tooth survival. The reported findings were analysed,
44 interpreted and synthesized from both clinical and biological perspectives. Current
45 best evidence indicates that the outcome of non-surgical retreatment was only
46 slightly less favourable than that of primary treatment and not significantly different.
47 The factors potentially compromising outcomes are mainly those preventing re-
48 access to the apical anatomy and the residual infection remaining therein. The
49 prognostic factors were similar for primary root canal treatment and retreatment.
50
51
52
53
54

1
2 Modern techniques and biological awareness contribute to excellent potential
3 outcomes for teeth undergoing root canal retreatment.
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

For Review Only

1. Crane AB. A call for standardization in root-canal treatment. *Dent Cosmos* 1917; **59**: 777–788.
2. Milton JW. Standardization of root-canal work. *Dental Cosmos* 1918; **60**: 498–503.
3. Guidelines for root canal treatment. British Endodontic Society. *Int Endod J* 1983; **16**: 192-195.
4. Consensus report of the European Society of Endodontology on quality guidelines for endodontic treatment. *Int Endod J* 1994; **27**:115–124.
5. European Society of Endodontology. Quality guidelines for endodontic treatment: consensus report of the European Society of Endodontology. *Int Endod J* 2006; **39**: 921–930.
6. Canadian Academy of Endodontics Standards of practices. http://www.caendo.ca/about_cae/standards/standards_english.pdf 2006 (accessed 31st July 2008)
7. Hinman T. The interpretation of x-ray picture of apical granulations, giving differential diagnosis of cases favourable and cases unfavourable of treatment and root-canal filling. *The J Nat Dent Assoc* 1921; **8**: 83–87.
8. Ng YL, Mann V, Rahbaran S, Lewsey J, Gulabivala K. Outcome of primary root canal treatment: systematic review of the literature – part 1. Effects of study characteristics on probability of success. *Int Endod J* 2007; **40**: 921–939.
9. Ng YL, Mann V, Gulabivala K. Outcome of secondary root canal treatment: a systematic review of the literature. *Int Endod J* 2008; **41**: 1026–1046.
10. Paik S, Sechrist C, Torabinejad M. Levels of evidence for the outcome of endodontic retreatment. *J Endod* 2004; **30**: 745–750.
11. Danin J, Strömberg T, Forsgren H, Linder LE, Ramsköld LO. Clinical management of nonhealing periradicular pathosis. Surgery versus endodontic

- 1
2 retreatment. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 1996; **82**:
3 213–217.
4
5
6 12. Kvist T, Reit C. Results of endodontic retreatment: a randomized clinical study
7 comparing surgical and nonsurgical procedures. *J Endod* 1999; **25**: 814–817.
8
9
10 13. Kvist T, Reit C. Postoperative discomfort associated with surgical and
11 nonsurgical endodontic retreatment. *Endod Dent Traumatol* 2000; **16**: 71–74.
12
13 14. Sjögren U, Hagglund B, Sundqvist G, Wing K. Factors affecting the long-term
14 results of endodontic treatment. *J Endod* 1990; **16**: 498–504.
15
16
17 15. Friedman S, Löst C, Zarrabian M, Trope M. Evaluation of success and failure
18 after endodontic therapy using a glass ionomer cement sealer. *J Endod* 1995:
19 **21**: 384–390.
20
21
22 16. Sundqvist G, Figdor D, Persson S, Sjögren U. Microbiologic analysis of teeth
23 with failed endodontic treatment and the outcome of conservative re-
24 treatment. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 1998; **85**: 86–
25 93.
26
27
28 17. Hoskinson SE, Ng YL, Hoskinson AE, Moles DR, Gulabivala K. A
29 retrospective comparison of outcome of root canal treatment using two
30 different protocols. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2002:
31 **93**: 705–715.
32
33
34 18. Farzaneh M, Abitbol S, Friedman S. Treatment outcome in endodontics: the
35 Toronto study. Phases I and II: Orthograde retreatment. *J Endod* 2004; **30**:
36 627–633.
37
38
39 19. Gorni FG, Gagliani MM. The outcome of endodontic retreatment: a 2-yr
40 follow-up. *J Endod* 2004; **30**: 1–4.
41
42
43 20. de Chevigny C, Dao TT, Basrani BR, Marquis V, Farzaneh M, Abitbol S,
44 Friedman S. Treatment outcome in endodontics: the Toronto study--phases 3
45 and 4: orthograde retreatment. *J Endod* 2008; **34**: 131–137.
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

- 1
 - 2
 - 3
 - 4
 - 5
 - 6
 - 7
 - 8
 - 9
 - 10
 - 11
 - 12
 - 13
 - 14
 - 15
 - 16
 - 17
 - 18
 - 19
 - 20
 - 21
 - 22
 - 23
 - 24
 - 25
 - 26
 - 27
 - 28
 - 29
 - 30
 - 31
 - 32
 - 33
 - 34
 - 35
 - 36
 - 37
 - 38
 - 39
 - 40
 - 41
 - 42
 - 43
 - 44
 - 45
 - 46
 - 47
 - 48
 - 49
 - 50
 - 51
 - 52
 - 53
 - 54
 - 55
 - 56
 - 57
 - 58
 - 59
 - 60
21. Ng Y-L, Mann V, Gulabivala K. A prospective study of the factors affecting outcomes of non-surgical root canal treatment at the Eastman: Part 1 – Periapical healing. *Int Endod J (In press a)*.
22. Ng Y-L, Mann V, Gulabivala K. A prospective study of the factors affecting outcomes of non-surgical root canal treatment at the Eastman: Part 2 – Tooth survival. *Int Endod J (In press b)*.
23. Gulabivala K. Species richness of gram-positive coccoid morphotypes isolated from untreated and treated root canals of teeth associated with periapical disease. PhD dissertation. University of London 2004
24. Grahnen H, Hansson L. The prognosis of pulp and root canal therapy. *Odontol Revy* 1961; **12**: 146–165.
25. Storms JL. Factors that influence the success of endodontic treatment. *J Can Dent Assoc (Tor)* 1969; **35**: 83–97.
26. Selden HS. Pulpoperiapical disease: diagnosis and healing. A clinical endodontic study. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol* 1974; **37**: 271–283.
27. Heling B, Kischinovsky D. Factors affecting successful endodontic therapy. *J Br Endod Soc* 1979; **12**: 83–89.
28. Pekruhn RB. The incidence of failure following single-visit endodontic therapy. *J Endod* 1986; **12**: 68–72.
29. Chugal NM, Clive JM, Spångberg LS. A prognostic model for assessment of the outcome of endodontic treatment: Effect of biologic and diagnostic variables. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2001; **91**: 342–352.
30. Fouad AF, Burleson J. The effect of diabetes mellitus on endodontic treatment outcome: data from an electronic patient record. *J Am Dent Assoc* 2003; **134**: 43–51
31. Spili P, Parashos P, Messer HH. The impact of instrument fracture on outcome of endodontic treatment. *J Endod* 2005; **31**: 845–850.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
32. Imura N, Pinheiro ET, Gomes BP, Zaia AA, Ferraz CC, Souza-Filho FJ. The outcome of endodontic treatment: a retrospective study of 2000 cases performed by a specialist. *J Endod* 2007; **33**: 1278–1282.
33. Allen RK, Newton CW, Brown CE Jr. A statistical analysis of surgical and nonsurgical endodontic retreatment cases. *J Endod* 1989; **15**: 261–266.
34. Molven O, Halse A. Success rates for gutta-percha and Kloroperka N-0 root fillings made by undergraduate students: radiographic findings after 10–17 years. *Int Endod J* 1988; **21**: 243–250.
35. Bergenholtz G, Lekholm U, Milthon R, Engstrom B. Influence of apical overinstrumentation and overfilling on re-treated root canals. *J Endod* 1979; **5**: 310–314.
36. Bergenholtz G, Lekholm U, Milthon R, Heden G, Odesjö B, Engström B. Retreatment of endodontic fillings. *Scand J Dent Res* 1979; **87**: 217–224.
37. Van Nieuwenhuysen JP, Aouar M, D'Hoore W. Retreatment or radiographic monitoring in endodontics. *Int Endod J* 1994; **27**: 75–81.
38. Friedman S. Prognosis of initial endodontic therapy. *Endod Topics* 2002; **2**: 59–88.
39. Bender IB, Seltzer S, Soltanoff W. Endodontic success--a reappraisal of criteria. 1. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol* 1966; **22**: 780–789.
40. Bender IB, Seltzer S, Soltanoff W. Endodontic success--a reappraisal of criteria. II. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol* 1966; **22**: 790–802.
41. Friedman S, Mor C. The success of endodontic therapy--healing and functionality. *J Calif Dent Assoc* 2004; **32**: 493–503.
42. Dugas NN, Lawrence HP, Teplitsky P, Friedman S. Quality of life and satisfaction outcomes of endodontic treatment. *J Endod* 2002; **28**: 819–827.
43. Cheung GS. Survival of first-time nonsurgical root canal treatment performed in a dental teaching hospital. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2002; **93**: 596–604.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
44. Cheung GS, Chan TK. Long-term survival of primary root canal treatment carried out in a dental teaching hospital. *Int Endod J* 2003; **36**: 117–128.
 45. Stoll R, Betke K, Stachniss V. The influence of different factors on the survival of root canal fillings: a 10-year retrospective study. *J Endod* 2005; **31**: 783–790.
 46. Lumley PJ, Lucarotti PS, Burke FJ. Ten-year outcome of root fillings in the General Dental Services in England and Wales. *Int Endod J* 2008; **41**: 577–585.
 47. Tickle M, Milsom K, Qualtrough A, Blinkhorn F, Aggarwal VR. The failure rate of NHS funded molar endodontic treatment delivered in general dental practice. *Br Dent J* 2008; **8**: 204(5):E8; discussion 254–255.
 48. Lazarski MP, Walker WA 3rd, Flores CM, Schindler WG, Hargreaves KM. Epidemiological evaluation of the outcomes of nonsurgical root canal treatment in a large cohort of insured dental patients. *J Endod* 2001; **27**: 791–796.
 49. Salehrabi R, Rotstein I. Endodontic treatment outcomes in a large patient population in the USA: an epidemiological study. *J Endod* 2004; **30**: 846–850.
 50. Department of Health. Guidance on the routine collection of Patient Reported Outcome Measures (PROMs) 2008: www.dh.gov.uk/publication
 51. Gratt BM, Sickles EA, Gould RG, Jeromin LS, White SC. Xeroradiography of dental structures. IV. Image properties of a dedicated intraoral system. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol* 1980; **50**: 572–579.
 52. Tyndall DA, Kapa SF, Bagnell CP. Digital subtraction radiography for detecting cortical and cancellous bone changes in the periapical region. *J Endod* 1990; **16**: 173–178.
 53. Ørstavik D, Farrants G, Wahl T, Kerekes K. Image analysis of endodontic radiographs: digital subtraction and quantitative densitometry. *Endod Dent Traumatol* 1990; **6**: 6–11.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
54. Delano EO, Tyndall D, Ludlow JB, Trope M, Lost C. Quantitative radiographic follow-up of apical surgery: a radiometric and histologic correlation. *J Endod* 1998; **24**: 420–426.
55. Yoshioka T, Kobayashi C, Suda H, Sasaki T. An observation of the healing process of periapical lesions by digital subtraction radiography. *J Endod* 2002; **28**: 589–591.
56. Ørstavik D. Radiographic evaluation of apical periodontitis and endodontic treatment results: a computer approach. *Int Dent J* 1991; **41**: 89–98.
57. Camps J, Pommel L, Bukiet F. Evaluation of periapical lesion healing by correction of gray values. *J Endod* 2004; **30**: 762–766.
58. Gesi A, Hakeberg M, Warfvinge J, Bergenholtz G. Incidence of periapical lesions and clinical symptoms after pulpectomy--a clinical and radiographic evaluation of 1- versus 2-session treatment. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2006; **101**: 379–388.
59. Huuonen S, Ørstavik D. Radiographical aspects of apical periodontitis. *Endod Topics* 2002; **1**: 3–25.
60. Mah JK, Danforth RA, Bumann A, Hatcher D. Radiation absorbed in maxillofacial imaging with a new dental computed tomography device. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2003; **96**: 508–513.
61. Cotton TP, Geisler TM, Holden DT, Schwartz SA, Schindler WG. Endodontic applications of cone-beam volumetric tomography. *J Endod* 2007; **33**: 1121–1132.
62. Patel S, Dawood A, Ford TP, Whaites E. The potential applications of cone beam computed tomography in the management of endodontic problems. *Int Endod J* 2007; **40**: 818–830.
63. Estrela C, Bueno MR, Leles CR, Azevedo B, Azevedo JR. Accuracy of cone beam computed tomography and panoramic and periapical radiography for detection of apical periodontitis. *J Endod* 2008; **34**: 273–279.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
64. Low KM, Dula K, Bürgin W, von Arx T. Comparison of periapical radiography and limited cone-beam tomography in posterior maxillary teeth referred for apical surgery. *J Endod* 2008; **34**: 557–562.
65. de Paula-Silva FW, Wu MK, Leonardo MR, da Silva LA, Wesselink PR. Accuracy of periapical radiography and cone-beam computed tomography scans in diagnosing apical periodontitis using histopathological findings as a gold standard. *J Endod* 2009; **35**: 1009–1012.
66. de Paula-Silva FW, Santamaria M Jr, Leonardo MR, Consolaro A, da Silva LA. Cone-beam computerized tomographic, radiographic, and histologic evaluation of periapical repair in dogs' post-endodontic treatment. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2009; **108**: 796–805.
67. Wu MK, Shemesh H, Wesselink PR. Limitations of previously published systematic reviews evaluating the outcome of endodontic treatment. *Int Endod J* 2009; **42**: 656–666.
68. Holroyd JR, Gulson AD. The Radiation Protection Implications of the Use of Cone Beam Computed Tomography (CBCT) in Dentistry: What You Need to Know. *London: Health Protection Agency Radiation Protection Division* **2009**: pp.1–10.
69. Arai Y, Honda K, Iwai K, Shinoda K. Practical model '3DX' of limited cone-beam X-ray CT for dental use. *International Congress Series* 2001; **1230**: 713–718.
70. Polycarpou N, Ng YL, Canavan D, Moles DR, Gulabivala K. Prevalence of persistent pain after endodontic treatment and factors affecting its occurrence in cases with complete radiographic healing. *Int Endod J* 2005; **38**: 169–178.
71. Yesilsoy C, Koren LZ, Morse DR, Rankow H, Bolanos OR, Furst ML. Post-endodontic obturation pain: a comparative evaluation. *Quintessence Int* 1988; **19**: 431–438.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
72. Albashaireh ZS, Alnegrish AS. Postobturation pain after single- and multiple-visit endodontic therapy. A prospective study. *J Dent* 1998; **26**: 227–232.
73. Oginni AO, Udoye CI. Endodontic flare-ups: comparison of incidence between single and multiple visit procedures in patients attending a Nigerian teaching hospital. *BMC Oral Health* 2004; **4**: 4.
74. Yoldas O, Topuz A, Isçi AS, Oztunc H. Postoperative pain after endodontic retreatment: single- versus two-visit treatment. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2004; **98**: 483–487.
75. Strindberg LZ. The dependence of the results of pulp therapy on certain factors – an analytical study based on radiographic and clinical follow-up examinations. *Acta Odontologica Scandinavica* 1956; **14**: 1–175.
76. Khedmat S. Evaluation of endodontic treatment failure of teeth with periapical radiolucent areas and factors affecting it. *J Dent, Tehran University of Medical Sciences* 2004; **1**: 34–38.
77. Ørstavik D, Hörsted-Bindslev P. A comparison of endodontic treatment results at two dental schools. *Int Endod J* 1993; **26**: 348–354.
78. Ørstavik D. Time-course and risk analyses of the development and healing of chronic apical periodontitis in man. *Int Endod J* 1996; **29**: 150–155.
79. Ørstavik D, Kerekes K, Eriksen HM. Clinical performance of three endodontic sealers. *Endod Dent Traumatol* 1987; **3**: 178–186.
80. Penesis VA, Fitzgerald PI, Fayad MI, Wenckus CS, BeGole EA, Johnson BR. Outcome of one-visit and two-visit endodontic treatment of necrotic teeth with apical periodontitis: a randomized controlled trial with one-year evaluation. *J Endod* 2008; **34**: 251–257.
81. Halse A, Molven O. Increased width of the apical periodontal membrane space in endodontically treated teeth may represent favourable healing. *Int Endod J* 2004; **37**: 552–560.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
82. Friedman S, Abitbol S, Lawrence HP. Treatment outcome in endodontics: the Toronto Study. Phase 1: initial treatment. *J Endod* 2003; **29**: 787–793.
83. Caplan DJ, Kolker J, Rivera EM, Walton RE. Relationship between number of proximal contacts and survival of root canal treated teeth. *Int Endod J* 2002; **35**: 193–199.
84. Dammaschke T, Steven D, Kaup M, Ott KH. Long-term survival of root-canal-treated teeth: a retrospective study over 10 years. *J Endod* 2003; **29**: 638–643.
85. Alley BS, Kitchens GG, Alley LW, Eleazer PD. A comparison of survival of teeth following endodontic treatment performed by general dentists or by specialists. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2004; **98**: 115–118.
86. Lynch CD, Burke FM, Ní Ríordáin R, Hannigan A. The influence of coronal restoration type on the survival of endodontically treated teeth. *Eur J Prosthodont Restor Dent* 2004; **12**: 171–176.
87. Tilashalski KR, Gilbert GH, Boykin MJ, Shelton BJ. Root canal treatment in a population-based adult sample: status of teeth after endodontic treatment. *J Endod* 2004; **30**: 577–581.
88. Caplan DJ, Cai J, Yin G, White BA. Root canal filled versus non-root canal filled teeth: a retrospective comparison of survival times. *J Public Health Dent* 2005; **65**: 90–96.
89. Nagasiri R, Chitmongkolsuk S. Long-term survival of endodontically treated molars without crown coverage: a retrospective cohort study. *J Prosthet Dent* 2005; **93**: 164–170.
90. Tan L, Chen NN, Poon CY, Wong HB. Survival of root filled cracked teeth in a tertiary institution. *Int Endod J* 2006; **39**: 886–889.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
91. Salvi GE, Siegrist Guldener BE, Amstad T, Joss A, Lang NP. Clinical evaluation of root filled teeth restored with or without post-and-core systems in a specialist practice setting. *Int Endod J* 2007; **40**: 209–215.
92. Chen SC, Chueh LH, Hsiao CK, Wu HP, Chiang CP. First untoward events and reasons for tooth extraction after nonsurgical endodontic treatment in Taiwan. *J Endod* 2008; **34**: 671–674.
93. Salehrabi R, Rotstein I. Epidemiologic evaluation of the outcomes of orthograde endodontic retreatment. *J Endod* 2010; **36**: 790–792.
94. Fristad I, Molven O, Halse A. Nonsurgically retreated root filled teeth--radiographic findings after 20-27 years. *Int Endod J* 2004; **37**: 12–18.
95. Byström A, Happonen RP, Sjögren U, Sundqvist G. Healing of periapical lesions of pulpless teeth after endodontic treatment with controlled asepsis. *Endod Dent Traumatol* 1987; **3**: 58–63.
96. Ross C, Scheetz J, Crim G, Caicedo R, Morelli J, Clark S. Variables affecting endodontic recall. *Int Endod J* 2009; **42**: 214–219.
97. Dumville JC, Torgerson DJ, Hewitt CE. Reporting attrition in randomized controlled trials. *BMJ* 2006; **22**: 969–971.
98. Schulz KF, Grimes DA. Sample size slippages in randomised trials: exclusions and the lost and wayward. *Lancet* 2002; **2;359**: 781–785.
99. Freiman JA, Chalmers TC, Smith H Jr, Kuebler RR. The importance of beta, the type II error and sample size in the design and interpretation of the randomized control trial. Survey of 71 "negative" trials. *N Engl J Med* 1978; **28;299**: 690–694.
100. Altman DG, Andersen PK. Calculating the number needed to treat for trials where the outcome is time to an event. *BMJ* 1999; **4**: 1492–1495.
101. Grimes DA, Schulz KF. Bias and causal associations in observational research. *Lancet*. 2002; **19**: 248–252.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
102. Mancl LA, Leroux BG, DeRouen TA. Between-subject and within-subject statistical information in dental research. *J Dent Res* 2000 **79**: 1778–81. Erratum in: *J Dent Res* 2000: **79**: 1924.
103. Nair PN, Henry S, Cano V, Vera J. Microbial status of apical root canal system of human mandibular first molars with primary apical periodontitis after "one-visit" endodontic treatment. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2005: **99**: 231–252.
104. Del Fabbro M, Taschieri S, Testori T, Francetti L, Weinstein RL. Surgical versus non-surgical endodontic re-treatment for periradicular lesions. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2007: **18**:CD005511.
105. Torabinejad M, Corr R, Handysides R, Shabahang S. Outcomes of nonsurgical retreatment and endodontic surgery: a systematic review. *J Endod* 2009: **35**: 930–937.
106. Field JW, Gutmann JL, Solomon ES, Rakusin H. A clinical radiographic retrospective assessment of the success rate of single-visit root canal treatment. *Int Endod J* 2004: **37**: 70–82.
107. Royston P, Altman DG, Sauerbrei W. Dichotomizing continuous predictors in multiple regression: a bad idea. *Stat Med* 2006: **15**: 127–141.
108. Calişkan MK. Nonsurgical retreatment of teeth with periapical lesions previously managed by either endodontic or surgical intervention. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2005: **100**: 242–248.
109. Mareending M, Peters OA, Zehnder M. Factors affecting the outcome of orthograde root canal therapy in a general dentistry hospital practice. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2005: **99**: 119–124.
110. Bjørndal L, Laustsen MH, Reit C. Danish practitioners' assessment of factors influencing the outcome of endodontic treatment. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2007: **103**: 570–575.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
111. Vertucci FJ. Root canal anatomy of the human permanent teeth. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol* 1984; **58**: 589–599.
112. Wada M, Takase T, Nakanuma K, Arisue K, Nagahama F, Yamazaki M. Clinical study of refractory apical periodontitis treated by apicectomy. Part 1. Root canal morphology of resected apex. *Int Endod J* 1998; **31**: 53–56.
113. Engström B, Segerstad LHA, Ramstrom G, Frostell G. Correlation of positive cultures with the prognosis for root canal treatment. *Odontologisk Revy* 1964; **15**: 257–270.
114. Sundqvist G. Bacteriologic studies of necrotic dental pulps. Dissertation. University of Umeå, 1976.
115. Byström A, Sundqvist G. Bacteriologic evaluation of the efficacy of mechanical root canal instrumentation in endodontic therapy. *Scand J Dent Res* 1981; **89**: 321–328.
116. Shovelton DS. The presence and distribution of microorganisms within non-vital teeth. *British Dental Journal* 1964; **117**: 101.
117. Nair PN. On the causes of persistent apical periodontitis: a review. *Int Endod J* 2006; **39**: 249–281.
118. Gomes BP, Drucker DB, Lilley JD. Associations of specific bacteria with some endodontic signs and symptoms. *Int Endod J* 1994; **27**: 291–298.
119. Gomes BP, Lilley JD, Drucker DB. Associations of endodontic symptoms and signs with particular combinations of specific bacteria. *Int Endod J* 1996; **29**: 69–75.
120. Gomes BP, Pinheiro ET, Gadê-Neto CR, Sousa EL, Ferraz CC, Zaia AA, Teixeira FB, Souza-Filho FJ. Microbiological examination of infected dental root canals. *Oral Microbiol Immunol* 2004; **19**: 71–76.
121. Sassone LM, Fidel R, Faveri M, Fidel S, Figueiredo L, Feres M. Microbiological evaluation of primary endodontic infections in teeth with and without sinus tract. *Int Endod J* 2008; **41**: 508–515.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
122. Happonen RP. Periapical actinomycosis: a follow-up study of 16 surgically treated cases. *Endod Dent Traumatol* 1986; **2**: 205–209.
123. Ferreira FB, Ferreira AL, Gomes BP, Souza-Filho FJ. Resolution of persistent periapical infection by endodontic surgery. *Int Endod J* 2004; **37**: 61–69.
124. Dahlén G, Fabricius L, Heyden G, Holm SE, Möller AJ. Apical periodontitis induced by selected bacterial strains in root canals of immunized and nonimmunized monkeys. *Scand J Dent Res* 1982; **90**: 207–216.
125. Kuo ML, Lamster IB, Hasselgren G. Host mediators in endodontic exudates, I: indicators of inflammation and humoral immunity, *J Endodon* 1998; **24**: 598–603.
126. Seltzer S, Naidorf IJ. Flare-ups in endodontics: I. Etiological factors. *J Endod* 1985; **11**: 472–478.
127. Seltzer S, Naidorf IJ. Flare-ups in endodontics: II. Therapeutic measures. *J Endod* 1985; **11**: 559–567.
128. Tzanetakakis GN, Kontakiotis EG, Maurikou DV, Marzelou MP. Prevalence and management of instrument fracture in the postgraduate endodontic program at the Dental School of Athens: a five-year retrospective clinical study. *J Endod* 2008; **34**: 675–678.
129. Shen Y, Peng B, Cheung GS. Factors associated with the removal of fractured NiTi instruments from root canal systems. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2004; **98**: 605–610.
130. Suter B, Lussi A, Sequeira P. Probability of removing fractured instruments from root canals. *Int Endod J* 2005; **38**: 112–123.
131. Main C, Mirzayan N, Shabahang S, Torabinejad M. Repair of root perforations using mineral trioxide aggregate: a long-term study. *J Endod* 2004; **30**: 80–83.
132. Alhadainy HA. Root perforations. A review of literature. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol* 1994; **78**: 368–374.

- 1
2
3 133. Gulabivala K, Abdo S, Sherriff M, Regan JD. The influence of interfacial
4 forces and duration of filing on root canal shaping. *Endod Dent Traumatol*
5 2000; **16**: 166–174.
6
7
8 134. van Zyl SP, Gulabivala K, Ng YL. Effect of customization of master gutta-
9 percha cone on apical control of root filling using different techniques: an ex
10 vivo study. *Int Endod J* 2005; **38**: 658–666.
11
12
13 135. Patel S, Rhodes J. A practical guide to endodontic access cavity preparation
14 in molar teeth. *Br Dent J* 2007; **203**: 133–140.
15
16
17 136. Del Fabbro M, Taschieri S, Lodi G, Banfi G, Weinstein RL. Magnification
18 devices for endodontic therapy. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2009; **8**:
19 CD005969.
20
21
22
23 137. Schilder H. Cleaning and shaping the root canal. *Dent Clin North Am* 1974:
24 **18**: 269–296.
25
26
27 138. Hülsmann M, Peters OA, Dummer PMH. Mechanical preparation of root
28 canals: shaping goals, techniques and means. *Endod Topics* 2005; **10**: 30–
29 76.
30
31
32 139. Pettiette MT, Delano EO, Trope M. Evaluation of success rate of endodontic
33 treatment performed by students with stainless-steel K-files and nickel-
34 titanium hand files. *J Endod* 2001; **27**: 124–127.
35
36
37 140. Chugal NM, Clive JM, Spångberg LS. Endodontic infection: some biologic and
38 treatment factors associated with outcome. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol*
39 *Oral Radiol Endod* 2003; **96**: 81–90.
40
41
42
43 141. Baugh D, Wallace J. The role of apical instrumentation in root canal
44 treatment: a review of the literature. *J Endod* 2005; **31**: 333–340.
45
46
47 142. Kerekes K, Tronstad L. Long-term results of endodontic treatment performed
48 with a standardized technique. *J Endod* 1979; **5**: 83–90.
49
50
51 143. Parris J, Wilcox L, Walton R. Effectiveness of apical clearing: histological and
52 radiographical evaluation. *J Endod* 1994; **20**: 219–224.
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
144. Card SJ, Sigurdsson A, Orstavik D, Trope M. The effectiveness of increased apical enlargement in reducing intracanal bacteria. *J Endod* 2002; **28**: 779–783.
145. Rollison S, Barnett F, Stevens RH. Efficacy of bacterial removal from instrumented root canals in vitro related to instrumentation technique and size. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2002; **94**: 366–371.
146. Smith CS, Setchell DJ, Harty FJ. Factors influencing the success of conventional root canal therapy--a five-year retrospective study. *Int Endod J* 1993; **26**: 321–333.
147. Allison DA, Weber CR, Walton RE. The influence of the method of canal preparation on the quality of apical and coronal obturation. *J Endod* 1979; **5**: 298–304.
148. Lee SJ, Wu MK, Wesselink PR. The effectiveness of syringe irrigation and ultrasonics to remove debris from simulated irregularities within prepared root canal walls. *Int Endod J* 2004; **37**: 672–678.
149. Gulabivala K, Ng Y-L, Gilbertson M, Eames I. The fluid mechanics of root canal irrigation. *Physiological measurement* 2010; **31**: R49-R84
<http://stacks.iop.org/0967-3334/31/R49>.
150. Gulabivala K, Patel B, Evans G, Ng Y-L. Effects of mechanical and chemical procedures on root canal surfaces. *Endodontic Topics* 2005; **10**: 103–122.
151. Byström A, Sundqvist G. Bacteriologic evaluation of the effect of 0.5 percent sodium hypochlorite in endodontic therapy. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol* 1983; **55**: 307–312.
152. Cvek M, Hollender L, Nord CE. Treatment of non-vital permanent incisors with calcium hydroxide. VI. A clinical, microbiological and radiological evaluation of treatment in one sitting of teeth with mature or immature root. *Odontol Revy* 1976; **27**: 93–108.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
153. McDonnell G, Russell AD. Antiseptics and disinfectants: activity, action, and resistance. *Clin Microbiol Rev* 1999; **12**: 147–179. Review. Erratum in: *Clin Microbiol Rev* 2001; **14**: 227.
154. Siqueira JF Jr, Rôças IN, Paiva SS, Guimarães-Pinto T, Magalhães KM, Lima KC. Bacteriologic investigation of the effects of sodium hypochlorite and chlorhexidine during the endodontic treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2007; **104**: 122–130. –7.
155. Wang CS, Arnold RR, Trope M, Teixeira FB. Clinical efficiency of 2% chlorhexidine gel in reducing intracanal bacteria. *J Endod* 2007; **33**: 1283–1289.
156. Kuruvilla JR, Kamath MP. Antimicrobial activity of 2.5% sodium hypochlorite and 0.2% chlorhexidine gluconate separately and combined, as endodontic irrigants. *J Endod* 1998; **24**: 472–476.
157. Rosenthal S, Spångberg L, Safavi K. Chlorhexidine substantivity in root canal dentin. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2004; **98**: 488–492.
158. Løe H. Does chlorhexidine have a place in the prophylaxis of dental diseases? *J Periodontal Res Suppl* 1973; **12**: 93–99.
159. Basrani BR, Manek S, Sodhi RN, Fillery E, Manzur A. Interaction between sodium hypochlorite and chlorhexidine gluconate. *J Endod* 2007; **33**: 966–969.
160. Bui TB, Baumgartner JC, Mitchell JC. Evaluation of the interaction between sodium hypochlorite and chlorhexidine gluconate and its effect on root dentin. *J Endod* 2008; **34**: 181–185.
161. Byström A, Sundqvist G. The antibacterial action of sodium hypochlorite and EDTA in 60 cases of endodontic therapy. *Int Endod J* 1985; **18**: 35–40.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
162. Byström A. Evaluation of endodontic treatment of teeth with apical periodontitis. Umeå University Odontological Dissertations. University of Umeå, 1986.
163. Zehnder M. Root canal irrigants. *J Endod* 2006; **32**: 389–398.
164. Basrani B, Tjäderhane L, Santos JM, Pascon E, Grad H, Lawrence HP, Friedman S. Efficacy of chlorhexidine- and calcium hydroxide-containing medicaments against *Enterococcus faecalis* in vitro. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2003; **96**: 618–624.
165. Gomes BP, Souza SF, Ferraz CC, Teixeira FB, Zaia AA, Valdrighi L, Souza-Filho FJ. Effectiveness of 2% chlorhexidine gel and calcium hydroxide against *Enterococcus faecalis* in bovine root dentine in vitro. *Int Endod J* 2003; **36**: 267–275.
166. Schäfer E, Bössmann K. Antimicrobial efficacy of chlorhexidine and two calcium hydroxide formulations against *Enterococcus faecalis*. *J Endod* 2005; **31**: 53–56.
167. Ercan E, Dalli M, Duülgergil CT, Yaman F. Effect of intracanal medication with calcium hydroxide and 1% chlorhexidine in endodontic retreatment cases with periapical lesions: an in vivo study. *J Formos Med Assoc* 2007; **106**: 217–224.
168. Buchbinder M, Wald AH. An improved method of culturing root canals. *J Am Dent Assoc* 1939; **26**: 1697.
169. Morse FW, Yates MF. Follow up studies of root-filled teeth in relation to bacteriologic findings. *J Am Dent Assoc* 1941; **28**: 956–971.
170. Frostell G. Clinical significance of the root canal culture. *Transactions of 3rd Int Conferences of Endodontics* 1963: 112–122.
171. Molander A, Reit C, Dahlén G. Reasons for dentists' acceptance or rejection of microbiological root canal sampling. *Int Endod J* 1996; **29**: 168–172.
172. Molander A, Reit C, Dahlén G. Microbiological root canal sampling: diffusion of a technology. *Int Endod J* 1996; **29**: 163–167.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
173. Mizutani T, Ohno N, Nakamura H. Anatomical study of the root apex in the maxillary anterior teeth. *J Endod* 1992; **18**: 344–347.
174. Al-bulushi A, Levinkind M, Flanagan M, Ng Y-L, Gulabivala K. Effect of canal preparation and residual root filling material on root impedance. *Int Endod J* 2008; **41**: 892–904.
175. Yusuf H. The significance of the presence of foreign material periapically as a cause of failure of root treatment. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol* 1982; **54**: 566–574.
176. Nair PN, Sjögren U, Krey G, Sundqvist G. Therapy-resistant foreign body giant cell granuloma at the periapex of a root-filled human tooth. *J Endod* 1990; **16**: 589–595.
177. Koppang HS, Koppang R, Stolen SO. Identification of common foreign material in postendodontic granulomas and cysts. *J Dent Assoc S Afr* 1992; **47**: 210–216.
178. Sjögren U, Sundqvist G, Nair PN. Tissue reaction to gutta-percha particles of various sizes when implanted subcutaneously in guinea pigs. *Eur J Oral Sci* 1995; **103**: 313–321.
179. Nguyen NT. Obturation of the root canal system. In: Cohen S and Burns RC, ed. *Pathways of the pulp*, 6th edn; pp. 219–271. Missouri, USA: Mosby–Year Book Inc, 1994.
180. Huuonen S, Lenander-Lumikari M, Sigurdsson A, Ørstavik D. Healing of apical periodontitis after endodontic treatment: a comparison between a silicone-based and a zinc oxide-eugenol-based sealer. *Int Endod J* 2003; **36**: 296–301.
181. Boggia R. A single-visit treatment of septic root canals using periapically extruded endomethasone. *Br Dent J* 1983; **155**: 300–305.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
182. Sari S, Okte Z. Success rate of Sealapex in root canal treatment for primary teeth: 3-year follow-up. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2008; **105**: e93–6.
183. Augsburger RA, Peters DD. Radiographic evaluation of extruded obturation materials. *J Endod* 1990; **16**: 492–497.
184. Sari S, Durutürk L. Radiographic evaluation of periapical healing of permanent teeth with periapical lesions after extrusion of AH Plus sealer. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2007; **104**: e54–9.
185. Spångberg LS. Evidence-based endodontics: the one-visit treatment idea. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2001; **91**: 617–618.
186. Sathorn C, Parashos P, Messer H. Antibacterial efficacy of calcium hydroxide intracanal dressing: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int Endod J* 2007; **40**: 2-10.
187. Chugal NM, Clive JM, Spångberg LS. Endodontic treatment outcome: effect of the permanent restoration. *Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod* 2007; **104**: 576–582.
188. Saunders WP, Saunders EM. Coronal leakage as a cause of failure in root-canal therapy: a review. *Endod Dent Traumatol* 1994; **10**: 105–108.
189. Hommez GM, Coppens CR, De Moor RJ. Periapical health related to the quality of coronal restorations and root fillings. *Int Endod J* 2002; **35**: 680–689.
190. Carrotte P. Endodontics: Part 8. Filling the root canal system. *Br Dent J* 2004; **197**: 667–672.
191. Yamauchi S, Shipper G, Buttke T, Yamauchi M, Trope M. Effect of orifice plugs on periapical inflammation in dogs. *J Endod* 2006; **32**: 524–526.
192. Matsumoto M, Goto T. Lateral force distribution in partial denture design. *J Dent Res* 1970; **49**: 359–364.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
193. Shillingburg HT, Hobo S, Whitsett LD. Diagnosis and treatment planning. In: Shillingburg HT, Hobo S, Whitsett LD ed. *Fundamentals of fixed prosthodontics*, 2nd edn; pp.13–54. Chicogo, USA: Quintessence Publishing Co., Inc, 1981.
194. Ng YL, Mann V, Gulabivala K. Tooth survival following non-surgical root canal treatment: a systematic review of the literature. *Int Endod J* 2010; **43**: 171–189.
195. Mindiola MJ, Mickel AK, Sami C, Jones JJ, Lalumandier JA, Nelson SS. Endodontic treatment in an American Indian population: a 10-year retrospective study. *J Endod* 2006; **32**: 828–832.
196. Genco RJ, Loe H. The role of systemic conditions and disorders in periodontal disease. *Periodontol* 2000 1993; **2**: 98–116.
197. Edwards JL, Vincent AM, Cheng HL, Feldman EL. Diabetic neuropathy: Mechanisms to management. *Pharmacology and Therapeutics* 2008; doi:10.1016/j.pharmthera.2008.05.005 .
198. Colman I, Friedman BW, Brown MD, Innes GD, Grafstein E, Roberts TE, Rowe BH. Parenteral dexamethasone for acute severe migraine headache: meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials for preventing recurrence. *BMJ* 2008; **336**: 1359–1361.
199. DePalma MJ, Slipman CW. Evidence-informed management of chronic low back pain with epidural steroid injections. *Spine J* 2008; **8**: 45–55.
200. Kalichman L, Hunter DJ. Diagnosis and conservative management of degenerative lumbar spondylolisthesis. *Eur Spine J* 2008; **17**: 327–335.
201. Eakle WS, Maxwell EH, Braly BV. Fractures of posterior teeth in adults. *J Am Dent Assoc* 1986; **112**: 215–218.
202. Lagouvardos P, Sourai P, Douvitsas G. Coronal fractures in posterior teeth. *Oper Dent* 1989; **14**: 28–32.

- 1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
203. Reit C, Gröndahl HG. Endodontic retreatment decision making among a group of general practitioners. *Scand J Dent Res* 1988; **96**: 112–117.
204. Reeh ES, Messer HH, Douglas WH. Reduction in tooth stiffness as a result of endodontic and restorative procedures. *J Endod* 1989; **15**: 512–516.

For Review Only

Table 1 Comparison of reported proportion of samples with successful periapical healing based on “tooth” or “root” as the unit of measure

	Percentage of molar teeth	Estimated success rate using tooth as unit measure	Estimated success rate using root as unit measure
Hoskinson <i>et al.</i> (2002) (17)	80%	77%	75%
Ng <i>et al.</i> (In press a) (21)	50%	77%	81%

Table 2 Criteria for determination of periapical status

Strindberg (1956) (75)	Bender <i>et al.</i> (1966a&b) (39, 40)	Friedman & Mor (2004) (41)
Success: Clinical: No symptoms Radiographic: The contours, width and structure of the periodontal margin were normal, or The periodontal contours were widened mainly around the excess filling.	Success: Clinical: Absence of pain / swelling Disappearance of fistula No loss of function No evidence of tissue destruction Radiographic: An eliminated or arrested area of rarefaction after a post-treatment interval of 6 months to 2 years	Healed: Clinical: Normal presentation Radiographic: Normal presentation
Failure: Clinical: Presence of symptoms Radiographic: A decrease in the periradicular rarefaction, or Unchanged periradicular rarefaction, or An appearance of new rarefaction or an increase in the initial rarefaction.		Diseased: Radiolucency has emerged or persisted without change, even when the clinical presentation is normal, or Clinical signs or symptoms are present, even if the radiographic presentation is normal.
Uncertain: Radiographic: There were ambiguous or technically unsatisfactory control radiographs which could not for some reason be repeated; or The tooth was extracted prior to the 3-year follow-up owing to the unsuccessful treatment of another root of the tooth.		Healing: Clinical: Normal presentation Radiographic: Reduced radiolucency.